








Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2018/19Balances through October

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund   

1100 230,761.00 230,761.00 198,069.60 53,156.24 20,464.84-Teachers Salaries

1115 60.00 60.00-Certificated Extra Duty

1120 75,787.00 75,787.00 88,430.00 12,643.00-Certificated Substitutes

1200 43,846.00 43,846.00 29,230.64 14,615.32 .04 Certificated Pupil Support Ser

1300 199,167.00 199,167.00 160,008.96 80,004.48 40,846.44-Certificated Supervisor Admini

1310 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 Teacher in Charge

Total for Object 1000 559,561.00 559,561.00 387,309.20 236,266.04 64,014.24-

2100 120,916.00 120,916.00 80,100.87 23,980.71 16,834.42 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2115 588.00 588.00 449.65 138.35 Classified Extra Duty

2120 8,000.00 8,000.00 1,653.76 6,346.24 Classified Substitutes

2200 28,844.00 28,844.00 8,542.59 4,428.77 15,872.64 Classified Support Salaries

2215 771.78 771.78-Classified Support Extra Duty

2300 95,174.00 95,174.00 62,848.00 31,604.00 722.00 Classified Supervisors' Admini

2400 144,227.00 144,227.00 95,863.98 45,362.64 3,000.38 Clerical Technical Office Staf

2420 250.00 250.00 250.00 Clerical Substiture

2900 16,448.00 16,448.00 649.00 15,799.00 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 414,447.00 414,447.00 247,355.44 108,900.31 58,191.25 

3101 114,331.00 114,331.00 62,467.84 24,263.07 27,600.09 STRS Certificated Positions

3102 749.00 749.00 599.36 165.68 16.04-STRS Classified Positions

3202 73,152.00 73,152.00 47,754.40 21,064.67 4,332.93 PERS Classified Positions

3301 155.00 155.00 155.00 OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 23,803.00 23,803.00 13,859.54 6,344.26 3,599.20 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 7,488.00 7,488.00 5,296.24 3,314.06 1,122.30-Medicare Certificated Position

3312 5,884.00 5,884.00 3,495.33 1,549.76 838.91 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 111,502.00 111,502.00 82,079.44 29,418.56 4.00 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 124,277.00 124,277.00 83,682.16 34,826.44 5,768.40 Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 277.00 277.00 193.68 118.73 35.41-SUI Certificated

3502 209.00 209.00 123.79 54.11 31.10 SUI Classified

3601 19,974.00 19,974.00 12,227.60 4,805.70 2,940.70 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 15,100.00 15,100.00 8,069.89 3,577.88 3,452.23 Workers' Compensation Classifi

Total for Object 3000 496,901.00 496,901.00 319,849.27 129,502.92 47,548.81 

4100 672.00 672.00 672.00 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4200 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Library and Reference Material

4300 45,158.00 45,158.00 3,085.41 11,834.50 30,238.09 Materials and Supplies

4320 600.00 600.00 600.00 Custodial Grounds Supplies

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2019, Period = 4, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  5 2018  7:20AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2420
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2018/19Balances through October

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund    (continued)

4330 1,000.00 1,000.00 165.01 398.15 436.84 Office Supplies

4350 5,500.00 5,500.00 1,532.52 93.22 3,874.26 Vehicle Upkeep

4400 23,311.00 23,311.00 639.17 1,026.86 21,644.97 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 77,241.00 77,241.00 5,422.11 13,352.73 58,466.16 

5100 43,000.00 43,000.00 34,220.00 8,780.00 Subagreements for Services

5200 44,755.00 44,755.00 8,201.36 10,394.19 26,159.45 Travel and Conference

5300 19,631.00 19,631.00 1,189.64 11,311.83 7,129.53 Dues and Membership

5400 9,600.00 9,600.00 9,434.00 166.00 Insurance

5500 9,200.00 9,200.00 4,773.35 1,699.89 2,726.76 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 3,100.00 3,100.00 505.86 375.04 2,219.10 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 20,500.00 20,500.00 6,022.50 14,477.50 Legal Services

5803 500.00 500.00 500.00 Legal Publications

5805 793.00 793.00 200.00 593.00 Personnel Expense

5806 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Negotiations

5808 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,078.05 421.95 .00 Other Services & Fees

5810 456,009.00 456,009.00 284,475.22 113,519.27 58,014.51 Contracted Services

5899 3,238.89 3,238.89-SPJUSD to Reimburse

5900 5,200.00 5,200.00 5,886.72 3,557.67 4,244.39-Communications

Total for Object 5000 614,788.00 614,788.00 343,769.09 156,736.34 114,282.57 

6170 290,000.00 290,000.00 150,899.00 141,922.25 2,821.25-LAND IMPROVEMENTS

6200 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 20,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 Equipment

Total for Object 6000 313,000.00 313,000.00 150,899.00 141,922.25 20,178.75 

7110 3,119.00 3,119.00-County Tuition Inter Dist Agre

7141 24,428.00 24,428.00 24,428.00 Tuition, excess cost etc betwe

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

Total for Object 7000 24,428.00 24,428.00 .00 3,119.00 21,309.00 

255,962.30 2,500,366.00 2,500,366.00 1,454,604.11 789,799.59 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 16 - FOREST RES   

7619 52,121.00 52,121.00 52,121.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

52,121.00 52,121.00 52,121.00 .00 .00 Total for Fund 16, Expense accounts and Object 7000

308,083.30 2,552,487.00 2,552,487.00 1,454,604.11 789,799.59 Total for Org 001 - Sierra County Office of Education

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2019, Period = 4, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  5 2018  7:20AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5803
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5806
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6170
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7141
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=106236&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7619






1 
SCOE Minutes 

October 9, 2018 

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

October 9, 2018 
Downieville School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 

Videoconferenced to Sierra County Office of Education, 109 Beckwith Rd., Loyalton, CA 96118 
5:00pm Closed Session 
6:00pm Regular Session 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

President PATTY HALL called the meeting to order at 5:00pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Patty Hall, President 
  Allen Wright, Vice President 
  Sharon Dryden, Clerk 
  Mike Moore, Member 
  Jenny Gant, Member 
 
ABSENT: None 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
MOORE/WRIGHT 
5/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

1. Current location – none 
2. Videoconference location – none 

E. CLOSED SESSION 

The Board of Trustees, Superintendent Dr. Merrill Grant and Business Manager Nona Griesert 
moved into Closed Session at 5:02pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957.6 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 
 Agency Negotiator for the Board: Dr. Merrill M. Grant, Superintendent 
 Employee Organizations: 
  Represented Employees: Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 
  Unrepresented Employees: Classified Employees 
      Confidential Employees 
      Administrative Employees 
 

2. Government Code 54956.9 
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL--ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) of 
Section 54956.9: 2 cases 

a. Case # 11153 
b. Case # 11138 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION at 5:43pm and ADJOURN FOR BREAK 

G. 6:06PM – RECONVENE 

H. FLAG SALUTE 



2 
SCOE Minutes 

October 9, 2018 

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

1. Gov Code 54957.6—Discussion only, no action taken 
2. Gov Code 54956.9—Discussion only, no action taken 
**Closed Session Reporting Form attached 

J. CORRESPONDENCE 

1. SCOE 2018-19 Budget disapproved until LCAP complete and approved per CDE letter 
9/17/2018 

GRANT: LCAP needed to be reformatted and some data updated. Andrea Ceresola 
worked on these updates and sent it to Nona Griesert to review before resubmitting to 
CDE. Submission due mid-month. 

K. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 

a. Update on LES Concrete Project—complete and looks great 
b. Hillary Lozano assigned to 2018-2019 Friday Night Live, Friday Night Kids 

and Club Live program advisor at Downieville School 
c. Ron Jacobson assigned to 2018-2019 Friday Night Live, Club Live program 

advisor at Loyalton High 
 

2. Business Report 

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/18 to 09/30/2018 
 

3. Staff Reports 

a. Curriculum – MESCHERY: **handout on History and Social Science attached 
b. SELPA – BETHKE: IEP night November 8th at 5pm; Crisis Prevention training 

for Special Ed and other staff in January; working through where and how to 
distribute caseload since losing and not replacing a full-time Special Ed 
instructor from last school year. 

 
4. Board Member Reports 

None 
 

5. Public Comment 

a. Videoconference location –  
Jenna Holland, president of Sierra Schools Foundation: Roots and Boots grant 
programs; $500 to students for Senior Projects; Golf tournament raised about 
$12,000 over the weekend; Survey sent out to community with feedback on 
different programs they’d like to see; marketing 

b. Current location – 
Katherine Genasci, Sierra Schools Foundation: passed out a sample brochure 
about SPJUSD, “Celebrating Rural” to promote Sierra County 
Schools/Communities 
 

L. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held September 11, 2018 
2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 09/01/2018 through 09/30/2018 



3 
SCOE Minutes 

October 9, 2018 

3. Approval of Quarterly Report on Williams Uniform Complaints for quarter ending 
09/30/2018.  It is required per Education Code 35186 section (d) that a school district 
shall report summarized data on the nature and resolution of all complaints on a 
quarterly basis to the county superintendent of schools and the governing board of the 
school district. No complaints regarding textbooks and instructional materials, teacher 
vacancy or misassignment or conditions of facilities were filed with Sierra County Office 
of Education during the quarter ending 09/30/2018. 

MOORE/WRIGHT 
5/0 
 

M. ACTION ITEMS 

1. New Business  

PUBLIC HEARING—Textbooks and Instructional Materials 
a. Public Hearing opened at 6:33pm to receive comments on the sufficiency of 

textbooks and instructional materials for Kindergarten through 12th grade in 
each subject and to assure that they are aligned with the state standards adopted 
pursuant to Ed. Code 60605 or 60605.8. Also meet the reporting and 
sufficiency requirements contained in Ed. Code 60119. 
Closed at 6:34pm with no public comment. 

b. Adoption of Resolution No. 19-003C, Sufficiency of Textbooks or 
Instructional Materials 
MOORE/DRYDEN 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 
HALL - AYE 
WRIGHT - AYE 
MOORE - AYE 
GANT – NO (do not agree with common core curriculum in CA) 
DRYDEN – AYE 
4/1 – motion passed 

c. Approve Contract Invoice from Hat Creek, final invoice for Paving Project 
GANT/MOORE 
Invoice shows actual cost came in at $19,023 over bid amount. Cost-Overrun 
was not approved by the Board before work was done—project manager signed 
off on completed project when it was not done to the quality standards expected. 
0/5 – motion failed 
Dr. Grant will set up a meeting with Hat Creek and other interested parties to 
discuss concerns before any payment is authorized. MOORE will attend 
meeting to represent the Board. 

d. Approve surplus of Titmus Vision Tester and donate it to Tehama County 
Office of Education 
DRYDEN/GANT 
5/0 

BOARD POLICIES AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS 

e. Board Policy 3312.2—Educational Travel Program Contracts, revisions 
f. DELETE Administrative Regulation 3312.2—Educational Travel Program 

Contracts, key concepts moved to BP 3312.2 above 
MOORE moved to approve e-f. Second by DRYDEN 
5/0 



4 
SCOE Minutes 

October 9, 2018 

 
g. Board Policy 3320—Claims and Actions Against the District, revisions 
h. DELETE Administrative Regulation 3320—Claims and Actions Against the 

District, revisions key concepts moved to BP 3320 above 
DRYDEN moved to table g-h and legal and/or insurance rep review and make 
recommendations. Second by MOORE. 
5/0 

i. NEW Board Policy 3515.21—Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 
MOORE/GANT 
5/0 

j. Board Policy 4140/4240/4340—Bargaining Units, revisions 
MOORE moved to approve with deletion of optional paragraph on page 3. 
Second by DRYDEN. 
5/0 

k. Administrative Regulation 4157.2/4257.2/4357.2—Ergonomics, revisions 
MOORE/DRYDEN 
DRYDEN: Change “shall” to “may” in first paragraph  
5/0 

l. NEW Board Policy 4161.3—Professional Leaves 
m. DELETE Administrative Regulation 4161.3—Professional Leaves, moved to 

new Board Policy 4161.3 above 
DRYDEN moved to approve l-m. Second by MOORE. 
5/0 

n. NEW Board Policy 4261.3—Professional Leaves 
o. DELETE Administrative Regulation 4261.3—Professional Leaves, moved to 

new Board Policy 42161.3 above 
GANT moved to delete n-o. Second by DRYDEN. 
Per Sue Roberts’ feedback “Classified Agreement contains no Professional 
Leave language, so no need to keep 4261.3 BP and AR” 
5/0 

p. Board Policy 5112.5—Open/Closed Campus, revisions 
q. DELETE Administrative Regulation 5112.5—Open/Closed Campus, key 

concepts moved to BP 5112.5 above 
MOORE moved to approve p-q. Second by DRYDEN. 
Change “senior high schools” to “Downieville Junior/Senior High School and 
Loyalton Senior High School”. 
Change “school authorities” to “school administration”. 
5/0 

r. Administrative Regulation 5141.32—Health Screening for School Entry, 
revisions 

MOORE/WRIGHT 
5/0 

s. Board Policy 6174—Education for English Learners, revisions 
t. Administrative Regulation 6174—Education for English Learners, revisions 

DRYDEN moved to approve s-t. Second by WRIGHT. 
4/1 – motion passed (no by GANT) 

 
 
 
 
 



5 
SCOE Minutes 

October 9, 2018 

N. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. Next Regular Board Meeting will be held on November 13, 2018 at Sierra County Office 
of Education, 109 Beckwith Rd., Loyalton, CA 96118 beginning with Closed Session, as 
needed, at 5:00pm and the Regular Board Meeting at 6:00pm. 

 
2. Suggested Agenda Items 

a. Update on Asphalt and Paving Project Invoice Discussion 
b. BP and AR 3320 
c. LCAP Update 

 
O. ADJOURN at 7:08pm 

WRIGHT/DRYDEN 
5/0 

 
 
 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Sharon Dryden, Clerk    Dr. Merrill M. Grant, Superintendent 









Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2018 through 10/31/2018

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00015031 10/08/2018 HEIDI BETHKE 01-5200 PER DIEM/PARKING 246.00 

00015032 10/08/2018 BWD CONSTRUCTION 01-9515 SITE CONCRETE 2,025.00 

00015033 10/08/2018 CUSTOMINK ATTN: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 01-4300 TUPE T-SHIRTS 564.31 

Unpaid Sales Tax 38.15- 526.16 

00015034 10/08/2018 AMBER DONNELLY 01-4300 SNACKS/SUPPLIES FOR EXTENDED 

YEAR

60.91 

00015035 10/08/2018 KATHLEEN EPPS 01-5200 MILEAGE 1,183.74 

00015036 10/08/2018 GIRARD, EDWARDS, STEVENS & TUCKER LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 610.00 

00015037 10/08/2018 JANIS HARDEMAN 01-5200 NURSE SERVICES 50.00 

01-5810 NURSE SERVICES 4,000.00 4,050.00 

00015038 10/08/2018 HAT CREEK CONSTRUCTION & MATERIALS, INC. 01-6170 AC SEAL AND STRIPE 47,915.00 

01-9515 AC SEAL AND STRIPE 2,395.75- 45,519.25 

00015039 10/08/2018 LEARNING ALLY 01-4300 INSTITUTION SEAT PACKAGE 990.00 

00015040 10/08/2018 JANE V. LEE, M.A., LMFT 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 1,920.00 

00015041 10/08/2018 LIBERTY UTILITIES CPEC 01-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 106.27 

00015042 10/08/2018 MARY LOWE 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 2,480.00 

00015043 10/08/2018 LESLIE MARSDEN, MOT, OTR/L 01-5810 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICES 2,510.00 

00015044 10/08/2018 BARBARA MCKURTIS 01-5810 CONTRACTED CONSULTANT 

AGREEMENT

6,580.00 

00015045 10/08/2018 NORTHEASTERN JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 76-9571 WORKER'S COMPENSATION 8,104.50 

00015046 10/08/2018 OFFICE DEPOT 01-4300 NOTEBOOKS 25.53 

00015047 10/08/2018 PITNEY BOWES, INC. 01-5600 POSTAGE MACHINE LEASE 50.63 

01-5899 POSTAGE MACHINE LEASE 151.92 202.55 

00015048 10/08/2018 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 1.09 

00015049 10/08/2018 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 106.82 

00015050 10/08/2018 TERESA TAYLOR 01-4300 T-SHIRTS 954.02 

00015051 10/08/2018 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-9535 OCT 18 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,914.00 

76-9576 OCT 18 HEALTH INSURANCE 18,963.90 21,877.90 

00015052 10/08/2018 U.S. BANK 01-4300 CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 137.11 

01-5200 TRAINING CERTIFICATION 3,049.00 

01-5899 OFFICE SUPPLIES 75.88 

SUPT. TRAVEL EXPENSES 24.00 3,285.99 

00015053 10/08/2018 VOYAGER 01-4350 FUEL EXPENSE 69.48 

01-5200 FUEL EXPENSE 37.63 

01-5899 FUEL EXPENSE 78.99 186.10 

00015054 10/08/2018 ALLEN WRIGHT 01-5200 PER DIEM 20.44 

00015055 10/30/2018 APEX SAW WORKS 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 194.88 

00015056 10/30/2018 CIT 01-5900 PHONE SYSTEM/MAINTENANCE 735.84 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  5 2018  7:22AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2018 through 10/31/2018

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00015057 10/30/2018 HEIDI BETHKE 01-5200 TUPE/SELPA MEETINGS 410.34 

00015058 10/30/2018 BWD CONSTRUCTION 01-6170 SITE CONCRETE 50,700.00 

01-9515 SITE CONCRETE 2,535.00- 48,165.00 

00015059 10/30/2018 KATHLEEN EPPS 01-5200 MILEAGE 802.24 

00015060 10/30/2018 AMY FILIPPINI 01-5200 PARKING 24.00 

00015061 10/30/2018 GIRARD, EDWARDS, STEVENS & TUCKER LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 82.50 

00015062 10/30/2018 GOODHEART-WILCOX PUBLISHER 01-4300 TEXTBOOKS 2,782.64 

00015063 10/30/2018 MERRILL GRANT 01-5200 CCSESA TRAVEL 989.74 

00015064 10/30/2018 NONA GRIESERT 01-5200 MILEAGE 41.96 

01-5899 MILEAGE 125.90 167.86 

00015065 10/30/2018 MIKE MOORE 01-5200 PER DIEM 27.25 

00015066 10/30/2018 NEVADA COUNTY SUPT OF SCHOOLS ACCOUNTS 

RECEIVABLE

01-5200 EXCESS TRANSPORTATION AUGUST 584.41 

00015067 10/30/2018 MIRANDA PRAKASH 01-4300 STROLLER FOR FIELD TRIP 82.49 

00015068 10/30/2018 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 40.88 

00015069 10/30/2018 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 91.97 

00015070 10/30/2018 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-9535 NOV 18 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,914.00 

76-9576 NOV 18 HEALTH INSURANCE 18,963.90 21,877.90 

00015071 10/30/2018 U.S. BANK 01-4300 BOOKS 55.96 

SHOP SUPPLIES 548.75 

01-5200 SUPT. TRAVEL EXPENSES 275.89 

01-5899 SUPT. TRAVEL EXPENSES 122.61 1,003.21 

00015072 10/30/2018 ALLEN WRIGHT 01-5200 PER DIEM 27.26 

Total Number of Checks 42 181,662.68 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 41 135,668.53 01

Payroll Clearing 3 46,032.30 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 42 181,700.83 

38.15 

181,662.68 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  5 2018  7:22AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education







Sierra County Office of Education / Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

 
Adult Education Plan 2018-19 

 
 
1. Hire a Program Administrator/Instructor who will: 

- Develop a scope/sequence of activities to be conducted to launch a new Adult 
Education program 

- Work with a consult to identify the needs of the region that align to the 7 AEP Program 
Areas (community survey) 

- Identify locations that best meet the needs of the region 
- Identify any training/curricular needs (ABE, HSE, ESL curriculum has already been 

purchased by the FRAEC) 
- Present needs analysis to the Superintendent 

 
2. Implement a Distance Learning program in January 2019 that will: 

- Follow the guidelines from the IDEAL Consortium and OTAN to develop a distance 
learning policy, procedure and implementation manual 

- Utilize   online curriculum (Burlington English, Aztec Software, NEDP) already purchased 
by the FRAEC to start a program 

- Present enrollment and CASAS data to the Superintendent 
- Present Distance Learning Plan to the Superintendent for Board approval 

 
3. Develop a sustainability plan by June 1, 2019 

- The new Adult Education Administrator will work to develop a sustainability plan that 
will be presented at the 2019 Annual Plan Retreat 

- The Sustainability Plan will include: 
o Physical location needs vs distance learning needs 
o Staffing needs (certificated and classified) 
o Alignment of needs and services with other FRAEC Member Districts (avoid 

overlap / duplication of services) 
o Funding needs to sustain and grow the program (per SACs object code) 

- Present Sustainability Plan to the Superintendent for Board approval 
 
4. NOVA Budget & Workplan 

- - Feather River College includes the following for SCOE/SPJUSD: 

 
- These funds will be allocated to SCOE/SPJUSD via an Allocation Amendment in NOVA 

upon BOE approval by SCOE/SPJUSD.  



Page 1 of 2 
 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET 
November 13, 2018 

 
BP 1100 - Communication with the Public 
(BP revised) 

Policy updated to add definition of the types of mass mailings that cannot be sent at district expense and to 
reflect law which prohibits certain mass mailings, which are otherwise permissible, from being sent within 
60 days preceding an election. Policy also deletes references to repealed Title 2 regulation (Register 2018, 
No. 12). 

 
BP 3290 - Gifts, Grants and Bequests 
(BP revised) 

Policy updated to add new section on "Online Fundraising" addressing considerations for approving a 
crowdfunding Internet platform to raise funds for district, school, or classroom projects or equipment. Policy 
also adds a prohibition against accepting any gift, grant, or bequest that promotes the use of non-nutritious 
foods or beverages and provides that any advertising used by a corporate sponsor meet the standards specified 
in BP 1325 - Advertising and Promotion. 

 
BP/AR 3320 - Claims and Actions Against the District (July batch from CSBA) 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy and regulation updated to clarify the applicability of the Government Claims Act to certain claims for 
money or damages against the district, and to reflect NEW COURT DECISION (Big Oak Flat-Groveland 
Unified School District v. Superior Court of Tuolumne Court) which upheld the district's right to require that 
a claim be submitted using district procedures before a lawsuit may be filed. Regulation also updated to 
expand section on "Time Limitations." 
 

AR 3320 - Claims and Actions Against the District (October batch from CSBA) 
(AR revised) 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 1053) which clarifies that districts do not have the authority 
to use district-established claims procedures for claims of childhood sexual abuse and that such claims are 
governed by the timelines and procedures of Code of Civil Procedure 340.1. 

 
AR 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability 
(AR revised) 

Regulation updated to add new section on "Report on Expenditures of State Facilities Funds" reflecting state 
law, as amended by NEW LAW (AB 1808), which requires districts that receive state facilities funding 
under the Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act to annually report a list of expenditures for completed 
facilities projects and conclude an audit within one year of project completion. 

 
BP 4114 - Transfers 
(BP revised) 

Policy updated to delete provision regarding a principal's right to refuse a teacher's transfer request for a 
school ranked in deciles 1-3 on the API, as the API is no longer being calculated. Policy also adds 
philosophical statement regarding the assignment of staff in an equitable manner that meets the needs of 
students and each school. 

 
BP/AR 5141.6 - School Health Services 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy updated to delete references to the obsolete API, Healthy Start program, and Healthy Families 
program. Regulation updated to expand section on "Types of Health Services" to include additional services 
for which districts can receive Medi-Cal reimbursement. Regulation also includes the requirement for 
employees to complete a random-moment time study for the Medi-Cal Administrative Activities program 
and reflects NEW LAW (AB 3192) which requirements the Department of Health Care Services to develop 
a program guide for the LEA Medi-Cal Billing Option. 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

BP/AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy and regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 752, 2017) which prohibits the expulsion of a child 
enrolled in a California State Preschool Program (CSPP) unless the district has taken specified steps and the 
child's continued enrollment presents a serious safety threat to the child or other enrolled children. Policy 
also adds data collection on the type of firearm involved in any expulsion for firearm possession, in 
accordance with federal law. Regulation also revises section on "Final Action by the Board" to correct the 
location in policy where acts requiring "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" are listed.  

 
BP/AR 6145.2 - Athletic Competition 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2009) which requires any district that offers an interscholastic 
athletic program to develop a written emergency action plan to be followed in the event of sudden cardiac 
arrest or other medical emergency. Regulation updated to reflect requirement of AB 2009 to make an 
automated external defibrillator available at athletic events. Regulation also includes new section on "Heat 
Illness" reflecting NEW LAW (AB 2800) which requires coaching education programs to include training 
on the signs and symptoms of, and appropriate response to, heat illness.  

 
BB 9110 - Terms of Office 
(BB revised) 

Bylaw updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2449) which changes the commencement of the term of office of 
board members from the first Friday in December following their election to the second Friday in December. 
Bylaw also provides that, if the district chooses or is required to consolidate its board elections with the local 
municipal or state primary or general elections, elections could occur in even-numbered years and the term 
of incumbent board members would be extended to align with the next election. 

 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Community Relations  
BP 1100 
 
COMMUNICATION WITH THE PUBLIC 
 

Note:  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The Governing Board of Education recognizes the district's responsibility to keep the public 
informed regarding the goals, programs, achievements, and needs of the schools and district and 
to be responsive to the concerns and interests of the community.  The Superintendent or designee 
shall establish strategies for effective two-way communications between the district and the public 
and shall consult with the Board regarding the role of Board members as advocates for the district's 
students, programs, and policies. 
(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 
(cf. 9000 - Role of the Board) 
 

Note:  Protocols for media relations, including the identification of Governing Board and staff spokespersons 
designated to meet with the media on behalf of the district, are addressed in BP 1112 - Media Relations. The 
district may choose to establish additional protocols for communications with other segments of the public. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide the Board and staff with communications protocols 
and procedures to assist the district in presenting a consistent, unified message on district issues. 
Such protocols and procedures may include, but are not limited to, identification of the 
spokesperson(s) authorized to speak to the media on behalf of the district, strategies for 
coordinating communications efforts and activities, and legal requirements pertaining to 
confidentiality as well as the public's right to access records. 
(cf. 1112 - Media Relations) 
(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records) 
(cf. 2111 - Superintendent Governance Standards) 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
(cf. 5125.1 - Release of Directory Information) 
(cf. 9005 - Governance Standards) 
(cf. 9010 - Public Statements) 
(cf. 9011 - Disclosure of Confidential/Privileged Information) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall utilize a variety of communications methods in order to 
provide information to the public with access to information.  Such methods may include, but are 
not limited to, district and school newsletters, web sites, social networking pages or other online 
communications technologies, direct emailmedia, electronic communications, mailings, notices 
sent home with students, recorded telephone messages for parent/guardian information, 
community forums and public events, news releases, meetings with education reporters and 
editorial boards, presentations at parent organization meetings, and meetings with representatives 
of local governments, community organizations, and businesses. 
(cf. 0510 - School Accountability Report Card) 



2 
 

(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites) 
(cf. 1114 - District-Sponsored Social Media) 
(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 
(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48985, when 15 percent or more of students enrolled in a school speak a single 
primary language other than English, all notices and reports sent to the parents/guardians of those students must 
also be written in that primary language.  In addition, the Americans with Disabilities Act (28 CFR 35.130 and 
35.160) requires districts to provide services and aids to ensure that a disabled individual is not excluded from 
participation or denied a benefit, service, or program on the basis of a disability. See BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination 
in District Programs and Activities. 

 
In developing communications strategies, the Superintendent or designee shall take into account 
the needs of all members of the public, including individuals with disabilities and those whose 
primary language is not English. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure thatmay provide staff members are responsivewith 
professional development to assist them in effectively responding to requests for information or 
assistance by parents/guardians or members of the public for information or assistance and may 
provide staff with professional development in their "customer service" role as needed. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide multiple avenues and opportunities for members of 
the public to give input on district and school issues and operations.  Community members are 
encouraged to become involved in school activities, participate on district and school committees, 
provide input at Board meetings, submit suggestions to district staff, and use the district's 
complaint procedures as appropriate. 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
(cf. 1230 - School-Connected Organizations) 
(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 
(cf. 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders) 
(cf. 1260 - Educational Foundation) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 1312.2 - Complaints Concerning Instructional Materials) 
(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 
(cf. 1312.4 - Williams Uniform Complaint Procedures) 
(cf. 3555 - Nutrition Program Compliance) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
(cf. 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials) 
(cf. 9323 - Meeting Conduct) 
 
Mass Mailings at Public Expense 
 
No newsletter or other mass mailing, as defined in Government Code 82041.5 and 2 CCR 18901, 
shall be sent by the district at public expense if such material aggrandizes one or more Board 
members.  The name, signature, or photograph of a Board member may be included in such 



3 
 

materials only as permitted by 2 CCR 18901.  (Government Code 82041.5, 89001; 2 CCR 18901) 
 

Any newsletterNote:  Education Code 7054 and 2 CCR 18901.1 prohibit the use of public funds for a mass 
mailing that (1) expressly advocates the election or defeat of a candidate or the qualification, passage, or defeat of 
a ballot measure or (2) if taken in context, unambiguously urges an election result. Violation of these provisions 
could result in an enforcement action by the Fair Political Practices Commission. See BP 1160 - Political Processes 
for language regarding the use of district funds for activities related to ballot measures, candidates, or lobbying. 

 
Newsletters or mass mailingmailings regarding ballot measures, candidates, legislative activities, 
or any other campaign activities shall be sent and distributed in accordance with law and Board 
policy. 
(cf. 1160 - Political Processes) 
 

Note:  Government Code 82041.5, 89001, and 89002 prohibit the use of public funds for a mass mailing which 
features a Board member or includes the name, signature, or photograph of a Board member, except as specifically 
allowed by law. "Mass mailing" is defined as over 200 substantially similar pieces of mail sent in a single calendar 
month or course of an election. A "mass mailing" does not include form letters or mail sent in response to an 
unsolicited request, letter, or other inquiry, or permissible informational materials otherwise authorized by 
Government Code 89002. Because these laws are very complex, districts should consult with legal counsel if there 
is a question about the appropriateness of a planned mailing. 

 
A mass mailing is prohibited if all of the following criteria are met:  (Government Code 89001-
89002) 
 
1. The mailing involves sending a tangible item, such as a videotape, record, button, or written 

document, which is delivered by any means to recipients at their residence, place of 
employment or business, or post office box. 

 
2. The item features a Board member or includes the name, office, photograph, or other 

reference to a Board member and is prepared or sent in cooperation, consultation, 
coordination, or concert with the Board member. 

 
3. The costs of distribution, or any costs of design, production, and printing exceeding $50, 

are paid with district funds. 
 
4. More than 200 substantially similar items, as defined in Government Code 89002, are sent 

in a single calendar month. 
 
The above prohibition does not apply to the types of mass mailings specified in Government Code 
89002(b), including, but not limited to:  (Government Code 89002) 
 
1. An item in which the Board member's name appears only in a roster containing the names 

of all Board members or in the letterhead or logotype of the stationery, forms, and 
envelopes of the district, a district committee, or the Board member 

 
2. An announcement including only a single mention of the Board member's name which 

concerns a public meeting related to the Board member's duties or any official district 



4 
 

event(s) for which the district is providing the use of its facilities, staff, or other financial 
support 

 
3. A business card that contains only one mention of the Board member's name and no 

photograph of the Board member 
 
However, any of the excepted mailings listed in items #1-3 above that meets the criteria for 
prohibited mass mailings shall not be sent within 60 days preceding an election in which a Board 
member to whom the mailing relates will appear on the ballot as a candidate.  (Government Code 
89003) 
 
Comprehensive Communications Plan 
 

Note:  The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. A comprehensive district 
communications plan may include strategies for internal and external communications on issues that are important 
to the district and community. The plan also may incorporate specific communications strategies required by other 
Board policies and administrative regulations. For example, see AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan, BP 1112 
- Media Relations, AR 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan, and BP/AR 6020 - Parent Involvement. 

 
The Superintendent or designee mayshall develop a written communications plan which 
establishes priorities for proactive community outreach to build support for district programs and 
issues.  The plan shall identify specific communications goals aligned with the district's vision and 
goals for student learning.  For each communications goal, the plan shall identify key messages, 
individuals or groups that can help the district achieve its goal, strategies tailored to each target 
audience, timelines, persons responsible for each activity, and budget implications. 
(cf. 0000 - Vision) 
(cf. 0200 - Goals for the School District) 
 
As appropriate for each issue, target audiences may include parents/guardians, the media, local 
governmental agencies, businesses, community organizations and civic groups, postsecondary 
institutions, health care professionals, child care providers, community leaders, state or federal 
legislators or agencies, and/or other segments of the public. 
 
The plan shall incorporate strategies for effective communications during a crisis or other 
emergency situation that may arise. 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the implementation and effectiveness 
of the district's communications plan and recommend to the Board whether the goals and key issues 
identified in the plan need to be revised to meet changing circumstances or priorities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 
 

Legal Reference: 
EDUCATION CODE 
7054  Use of district property or funds re: ballot measures and candidates 
35145.5  Board meetings, public participation 
35172  Promotional activities 
38130-38138  Civic Center Act 
48980-48985  Parental notifications 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
54957.5  Meeting agendas and materials 
82041.5  Mass mailing 
89001-89003  Newsletter or mass mailing 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 
18901  Mass.1  Campaign-related mailings sent at public expense 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 28 
35.101-35.190  Americans with Disabilities Act 

 
Management Resources: 
CSBA PUBLICATIONS 
Mass Mailings at Public Expense, Legal Advisory, January 2007 
911: A Manual for Schools and the Media During a Campus Crisis, 2001 
Political Activities of School Districts: Legal Issues, rev. 2001 
Maximizing School Board Governance: Community Leadership, 1996 

WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California School Public Relations Association: http://www.calspra.org 
Fair Political Practices Commission:  http://www.fppc.ca.gov 

 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 10, 2011 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Business and Noninstructional Operations  
BP 3290 
 
The Board of EducationGIFTS, GRANTS AND BEQUESTS 
 

Note:  Education Code 41032 authorizes the Governing Board to accept gifts on behalf of the district and to 
prescribe conditions for their acceptance. Criteria listed in this optional policy may be revised to reflect district 
practice. 

 
The Governing Board may accept any gift, grant, or bequest of money, property, or service to the 
district from any individual, private agency or organization, foundation, or other public or private 
agency that desires to support the district's educational program.  While greatly appreciating 
suitable donations, the Board shall reject any gift which may directly or indirectly impair its 
authority to make decisions in the best interest of district students or its ability or commitment to 
provide equitable educational opportunities. 
(cf. 0100 - Philosophy) 
(cf. 0200 - Goals for the School District) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 0415 - Equity) 
(cf. 1260 - Educational Foundation) 
(cf. 9270 - Conflict of Interest) 
 

Note:  A donor may impose restrictions and conditions on the use of a gift. Unless the conditions are illegal, the 
district will be subject to those conditions if it accepts the gift. 

 
Before accepting any gift, grant, or bequest, the Board shall carefully consider any conditions or 
restrictions imposed by the donor to ensure their consistency with the district's vision, philosophy, 
and operations.  If the Board believes the district will be unable to fully satisfy the donor's 
conditions, the gift shall not be accepted. 
(cf. 0000 - Vision) 
(cf. 0100 - Philosophy) 
 
In addition, the Board shall ensure that acceptance of the gift, grant, or bequest does not: 
 
1.  Involve creation of a program which the Board would be unable to sustain when the 

donation is exhausted 
 
2.  Entail undesirable or excessive costs 
 
3.  Promote the use of violence, drugs, tobacco, or alcohol or the violation of any law or district 

policy 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 
(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 

 
4. Advertise or endorse the use of non-nutritious food or beverages during the school day 

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
 
5. Encourage or enable the violation of any law or district policy 



2 
 
 
6. Imply endorsement of any business or product or unduly commercialize or politicize the 

school environment 
(cf. 1325 - Advertising and Promotion) 

 
Any gift of books andor instructional materials shallmay only be accepted only if they meet regular 
district criteria for selection of instructional materials. 
(cf. 6161.1 - Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials) 
(cf. 6161.11 - Supplementary Instructional Materials) 
 
All gifts, grants, and bequests shall become district property.  Donors are encouraged to donate all 
gifts to the district rather than to a particular school. , classroom, or teacher. At the Superintendent 
or designee's discretion, a gift may be used at a particular school or classroom. 
 

Note:  Education Code 41030 allows districts to invest monies gifted to them when not immediately needed.  
Education Code 41031 requires that such funds be placed in a district special fund in the county treasury and 
designated as the Foundation Fund. Funds donated for specific purposes must be placed in a separate account in 
that fund. Pursuant to Education Code 41035-41038, districts that place money in a foundation fund pursuant to 
these laws must adopt related rules and regulations and appoint an advisory committee to advise the board about 
investments to be made. 

 
When any gift of money received by the district is not immediately used, it shall be placed in the 
county treasury in accordance with law.  (Education Code 41030-41031) 
(cf. 3430 - Investing) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually provide a report to the Board indicating the gifts, 
grants, and/or bequests received on behalf of the district in the preceding fiscal year.  The report 
shall include a statement of account and expenditure of all gifts of money and an inventory of all 
gifts of physical assets. 
(cf. 3440 - Inventories) 
(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 
 
Appreciation 
 
The Board may show appreciation for any donation to the district in any manner it deems 
appropriate.  Such appreciation may take the form of letters of recognition or Board resolutions; 
plaques, commendations, or awards; planting of commemorative trees or gardens; or naming or 
renaming of buildings, grounds, or facilities.  Conferment of any such honor shall be in accordance 
with applicable Board policy. 
(cf. 1150 - Commendations and Awards) 
(cf. 7310 - Naming of Facility) 
 
Corporate Sponsorship 
 

Note:  Under the general authority granted to boards pursuant to Education Code 35160, the Board is authorized 
to enter into a corporate sponsorship agreement with an outside entity including for-profit and nonprofit 
corporations. In exchange for funds, products, and services provided by such entities, the Board may allow them 
to advertise and/or promote their products and services within district buildings or facilities. The Board may set 
guidelines for entering into such agreements to ensure that they are limited to appropriate matters. Standards related 
to advertising and promotions are addressed in BP 1325 - Advertising and Promotion. The Board may revise the 
following optional section to ensure consistency with those standards. 

 



3 
 
The Board may enter into an agreement or arrangement with an outside entity for the sponsorship 
of an educational, athletic, or other program or activity.  When appropriate, the agreement may 
allow the outside entity to advertise or promote its business, product, or service in district 
publications or on district property or web sites. 
(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites) 
(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 
(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 
(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 
 
Every sponsorship agreement shall be in writing and shall be approved by the Board.  The Board 
shall ensure that the district's relationship and arrangement with the sponsor are consistent with 
the district's mission, values, and goals.  Any advertising or promotional message, image, or other 
depiction to be used by the sponsor shall meet the standards set for commercial advertising on 
district property and in district-sponsored publications.  No message, image, or other depiction that 
promotes the use of obscene language, pornography, alcohol, tobacco, or prohibited drugs or that 
advocates unlawful discrimination, use of violence, or the violation of law or district policy shall 
be allowed in accordance with BP 1325 - Advertising and Promotion. 
 
Each sponsorship agreement shall contain statements including, but not limited to: 
 
1. The purpose of the relationship with the sponsor, details of the benefits to the district, and 

how the benefits will be distributed. 
 
2. The duration of the agreement and the roles, expectations, rights, and responsibilities of 

the district and the sponsor, including whether and to what extent the sponsor is allowed to 
advertise or promote its products and/or services. 

 
3. The authority of the Board to retain exclusive right over the use of the district's name, logo, 

and other proprietary information.  The sponsor's use of such information shall require and 
the requirement that the sponsor obtain prior approval of the Board. before using such 
information 

 
4. The prohibition against the collection or distribution of students' personal information 

except as allowed by law 
 
5. The authority of the Board to terminate the agreement without any penalty or sanction to 

the district if the sponsor's message, business, or product becomes inconsistent with 
districtthe district's vision, mission, or goals or the sponsor engages in any prohibited 
activity. 

5.The prohibition against the collection of students' personal information except as allowed by 
law. 

(cf. 5022 - Student and Family Privacy Rights) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 

 
Online Fundraising 
 

Note:  The following optional section addresses the practice of using a crowdfunding Internet platform (e.g., 
GoFundMe, PledgeCents, Donors Choose, etc.) to raise funds for district, school, or classroom projects or 
equipment and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 



4 
 
Any person or entity who wishes to conduct an online fundraising campaign, including a 
crowdfunding campaign, for the benefit of the district, a school, or a classroom shall submit a 
written request for prior approval to the Superintendent or designee. Approval of requests shall 
take into consideration compatibility with the district's vision and goals, core beliefs, instructional 
priorities, and infrastructure; the manner in which donations are collected and distributed; equity 
of the use of funds; and any other factors deemed relevant or appropriate by the district. 
 
Any person or entity approved to conduct an online fundraising campaign shall comply with 
relevant district policies and procedures, including ensuring financial transparency in describing 
the purpose and use of the funds and protecting student privacy as applicable. Such person or entity 
shall specify that the district, rather than a staff member, classroom, or school, will own the funded 
resources. 
 
Funds raised by an online fundraising campaign and donated to the district shall be subject to the 
same terms, criteria for acceptance, and accountability measures as any other donation as specified 
in this policy. 
 
Appreciation 
 
The Board may show appreciation for any donation to the district in any manner it deems 
appropriate. Such appreciation may take the form of letters of recognition or Board resolutions; 
plaques, commendations, or awards; planting of commemorative trees or gardens; or naming or 
renaming of buildings, grounds, or facilities. Conferment of any such honor shall be in accordance 
with applicable Board policy. 
(cf. 1150 - Commendations and Awards) 
(cf. 7310 - Naming of Facility) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
1834  Acquisition of materials and apparatus 
35160  Powers and duties 
35162  Power to sue, be sued, hold and convey property 
41030  School district may invest surplus monies from bequest or gifts 
41031  Special fund or account in county treasury 
41032  Authority of school board to accept gift or bequest; investments; gift of land requirements 
41035  Advisory committee 
41036  Function of advisory committee 
41037  Rules and regulations 
41038  Applicability of other provisions of chapter 

Management Resources: 
WEB SITES 
California Consortium of Education Foundations:  http://www.cceflink.org 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: September 13, 2011 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
**Includes feedback/changes from our JPA 10/18/18** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
 
Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3320 
 
CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT 
 

Note:  The following optional policy and accompanying administrative regulation reflect the claims 
procedure in the Government Claims Act pursuant to Government Code 810-996.6.  The Act details 
requirements for the filing of claims against public entities such as school districts. 
 
Government Code 905 specifies certain types of claims which are exempted from the procedures in the 
Government Claims Act. Pursuant to Government Code 935, a district is authorized to establish its own 
claims processing procedures for those exempted claims. A local claims requirement must be similar to and 
be no more restrictive than those established by the Government Claims Act.  For example, the district's 
procedures may not allow a longer time for the Board to take action on a claim than the timeline provided 
for claims under the Government Claims Act. The following policy and accompanying administrative 
regulation may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
Because a district's insurance carrier or joint powers authority may require the district to comply with 
certain claims management conditions as part of the district's contractual coverage obligation, it is strongly 
recommended that, prior to adoption by the Governing Board, this board policy and accompanying 
administrative regulation be reviewed for consistency with any applicable conditions of coverage.  A 
district's failure to follow those contractual conditions may result in a loss of coverage benefits. The district's 
risk manager and legal counsel should also be consulted, as appropriate. 

 
The Governing Board desires to conduct district operations in a manner that minimizes risk, protects district 
resources, and promotes the health and safety of students, staff, and the public.  Any and all claims for money 
or damages against the district shall be presented to and acted upon in accordance with law, Board 
policy, and administrative regulationthe Government Claims Act or other applicable state or district 
procedures, as well as the district's Joint Powers Authorityjoint powers authority (JPA) agreement or other 
insurance coverage. 
(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance) 
(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 
 

Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to establish their own claims 
procedures for certain types of claims pursuant to Government Code 935. 

 
Any claim for money or damages not governed by the Government Claims Act (Government Code 810-996.6) 
or specifically excepted by Government Code 905 shall be presented and acted upon in accordance with 
district-established procedures consistent with the manner and time limitations specified in the 
Government Claims Actaccompanying administrative regulation, unless a procedure for processing such 
claims is otherwise provided by state or federal law. or regulation.  (Government Code 935) 
 
Upon notice to the district of a claim, the Superintendent or designee shall take all necessary steps to protect 
the district's rights under any applicable contractual agreements, including the right to indemnification from 
its insurance or other coverage provider. 
 
In accordance with Government Code 935.4, the Board delegates to the Superintendent the authority to allow, 
compromise, or settle claims of $50,000 or less pursuant to any conditions of coverage in the district's JPA 
agreement or insurance. 



2 
 

 

 
This policy applies retroactively to any existing causes of action and/or claims for money and/or damages. 
 
Roster of Public Agencies 
 

Note:  Government Code 53051 requires public agencies, such as school districts, to register the information 
specified below, including the names of all Board members, with the Secretary of State and County Clerk.  
If the information on file is not accurate or if no information is on file, the court may allow a person to 
proceed with a claim against the district even if the time limit for filing such a claim has expired.  Thus, it 
is imperative that all required information be current and accurate. 

 
Within 10 days of any change in the name of the school district, the mailing address of the Board, andor the 
names and addresses of the Board presiding officerpresident, the Board clerk or secretary, andor other 
members of the Board.Board members, the Superintendent or designee shall file the updated information 
with the Secretary of State and the County Clerk.  (Government Code 53051) 
 
Any changes to such information shall be filed within 10 days after the change has occurred. 
(Government Code 53051) 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
35200  Liability for debts and contracts 
35202  Claims against districts; applicability of Government Code 
CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 
340.1  Damages suffered as result of childhood sexual abuse 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
800  Cost in civil actions 
810-996.6  Claims and actions against public entities 
6500-6536  Joint exercise of powers 
53051  Information filed with secretary of state and county clerk 
PENAL CODE 
72  Fraudulent claims 
COURT DECISIONS 
Big Oak Flat-Groveland Unified School District v. Superior Court of Tuolumne County, (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 403 
City of Stockton v. Superior Court, (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 730 
Connelly v. County of Fresno, (2006) 146 Cal.App.4th 29 
CSEA v. South Orange Community College District, (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 574 
CSEA v. Azusa Unified School District, (1984) 152 Cal.App.3d 580 

Management Resources: 
WEB SITES 
California Secretary of State's Office:  http://www.sos.ca.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 14, 2016 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
**Includes feedback/changes from our JPA 10/18/18** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
 
Business and Noninstructional Operations AR 3320 
 
CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT 
 

Note:  The Government Claims Act (Government Code 810-996.6) sets forth prelitigation requirements and 
deadlines for claims against public entities, including school districts. In City of Stockton v. Superior Court, the 
California Supreme Court held that the claim requirements in Government Code 900-915.4 also apply to claims 
for breach of contract. 
 
Because a district's insurance carrier or joint powers authority (JPA) may require the district to comply with certain 
claims management conditions as part of the district's contractual coverage obligation, it is strongly recommended 
that this administrative regulation be reviewed for consistency with any applicable conditions of coverage. A 
district's failure to follow those contractual conditions may result in a loss of coverage benefits. The district's risk 
manager and legal counsel should also be consulted, as appropriate. 

 
Time Limitations 
 

Note:  Items #1-4 below list timelines for claims pursuant to the Government Claims Act and other applicable 
statutes. As amended by SB 1053 (Ch. 153, Statutes of 2018), Government Code 935 clarifies that the authority 
of a district to adopt local claims presentation procedures for causes of action which are excepted from the 
Government Claims Act by Government Code 905 and are not governed by other statutes or regulations does not 
apply to childhood sexual abuse. Rather, claims for childhood sexual abuse are governed by the timelines and 
procedures specified in Code of Civil Procedure 340.1. 

 
The following time limitations apply to claims against the district: 
 
1. Claims for money or damages relating to any cause of action which is governed by a statute 

or regulation, including childhood sexual abuse and other causes of action specifically 
excepted from the Government Claims Act by Government Code 905, shall be filed in 
accordance with the governing statute or regulation.  (Government Code 905, 935) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 935, a district may establish its own procedure for the presentation of those 
claims which are excluded from the Government Claims Act as specified in Government Code 905. Optional item 
#2 below is for use by any district whose board has chosen to exercise the authority to establish district procedures 
for such claims; see the accompanying Board policy. Item #2 provides six months as the time limitation for filing 
such claims, which is consistent with the requirement in Government Code 935 that the district's procedure not 
require a shorter time for presentation of a claim than the time specified in Government Code 911.2. However, the 
Governing Board has the discretion to adopt a more flexible time limitation and may increase the amount of time 
allowed for filing such claims. If the Board adopts a more flexible time limitation, item #2 should be revised 
accordingly. 
 
If a claimant misses a deadline for a claim required to be submitted in accordance with item #2 or #3 below, he/she 
may present an application to present a late claim pursuant to Government Code 911.4; see section below entitled 
"Late Claims." 

 
2. In accordance with the Board's authority pursuant to Government Code 935, claims for 

money or damages which relate to any cause of action specifically excepted from the 
Government Claims Act by Government Code 905 but which are not governed by any 



2 
 

other claims presentation statute or regulation shall be filed not later than six months after 
the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government Code 905, 935) 

 
3. Claims for money or damages relating to a cause of action for death or for injury to person, 

personal property, or growing crops shall be presented to the Governing Board of 
Education not later than six months after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government 
Code 905, 911.2) 

 
24.Claims for money or damages as authorized in Government Code 905 and not included in item 
#1 above, including claims for damagesrelating to real property, shall be presentedfiled not later 
than one year after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government Code 905, 911.2) 
 
Receipt of Claims 
 
A claim, any amendment thereto, or an application to present a late claim shall be deemed 
presented and received when delivered to the district office or deposited in a post office, 
subpostmailbox, sub-post office, substation, or mail chute, or other likesimilar facility maintained 
by the U.S. Governmentgovernment, in a sealed envelope properly addressed to the district office 
with postage paid, or when otherwise actually received in the district office or by the Board 
secretary or clerk.  (Government Code 915, 915.2) 
 

Note:  In most circumstances, a district's insurance provider or JPA is responsible for claims management, 
including investigating, defending, and managing a district's response to a claim presented under the Government 
Claims Act. The following paragraph requires the Superintendent or designee to immediately forward any claims 
received to the district's JPA or insurance provider in order to help ensure compliance with any conditions of 
coverage. 

 
Upon receipt of a claim against the district pursuant to the Government Claims Act, the 
Superintendent or designee shall promptly provide written notice to the district's JPAjoint powers 
authority or insurance carrier in accordance with the applicable conditions of coverage. 
 
Review of Contents of the Claim 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall review any claim received to ensure that the claim contains 
all of the following information as specified in Government Code 910 and 910.2: 
 
1. The name and post office address of the claimant 
2. The post office address to which the person presenting the claim desires notices to be sent 
3. The date, place, and other circumstances of the occurrence or transaction which gave rise 

to the claim asserted 
4. A general description of the indebtedness, obligation, injury, damage, or loss incurred 

insofar as it may be known at the time of presentation of the claim 
5. The name(s) of the public employee(s) causing the injury, damage, or loss if known 
6. The amount claimed if it totals less than $10,000 as of the date of the presentation of the 

claim, including the estimated amount of any prospective injury, damage, or loss, insofar 
as it may be known at the time of the claim, together with the basis of computation of the 
amount claimed.  If the amount claimed exceeds $10,000, the dollar amount shall not be 
included in the claim and the claimant shall indicate whether the claim is a "limited civil 
case." 

7. The signature of the claimant or the person acting on his/her behalf 



3 
 
 
Notice of Claim Insufficiency 
 
If a claim is found insufficient or not to satisfy the form requirements under Government Code 
910 and 910.2, the Board or its designee shall, within 20 days of receipt of the claim, personally 
deliver or mail to the claimant, at the address stated in the claim or application, a notice that states 
the particular defects or omission in the claim.  (Government Code 910.8, 915.4) 
 
The Board shall not act upon the claim until at least 15 days after such notice is given.  
(Government Code 910.8) 
 
Amendment to Claims 
 
Within the time limits provided under the section entitled "Time Limitations" above or prior to 
final action by the Board, whichever is later, a claim may be amended if, as amended, it relates to 
the same transaction or occurrence which gave rise to the original claim.  (Government Code 
910.6) 
 
Late Claims 
 
For claims under item #1 in the section entitled "Time Limitations" above, any person who presents 
a claim later than six months after the accrual of the cause of action shall present, along with the 
claim, an application to present a late claim.  Such claim and the application to present a late claim 
shall be presented not later than one year after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government 
Code 911.4) 
 
If the claim is presented late and is not accompanied by an application to present a late claim, the 
Board or its designee may, within 45 days, give written notice that the claim was not presented 
timely and that it is being returned without further action. (Government Code 911.3) 
 
The Board shall grant or deny the application to present a late claim within 45 days after it is 
presented.  This 45-day period may be extended by written agreement of the claimant and the 
Board provided that such agreement is made before the expiration of the 45-day period.  
(Government Code 911.6) 
 
The Board shall grant the application to present a late claim where one or more of the following 
conditions are applicable:  (Government Code 911.6) 
 
1. The failure to present the claim was through mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 

neglect and the district was not prejudiced in its defense regarding the claim by the 
claimant's failure to present the claim within the time limit. 

 
2. The person who sustained the alleged injury, damage, or loss was a minor during all of the 

time specified for presentation of the claim. 
 
3. The person who sustained the alleged injury, damage, or loss was physically or mentally 

incapacitated during all of the time specified for presentation of the claim and the disability 
was the reason he/she failed to present the claim. 

 



4 
 
4. The person who sustained the alleged injury, damage, or loss died before the expiration of 

the time specified for the presentation of the claim. 
 
If the application to present a late claim is denied, the claimant shall be given notice in substantially 
the same form as set forth in Government Code 911.8.  (Government Code 911.8) 
 
If the Board does not take action on the application to present a late claim within 45 days, the 
application shall be deemed to have been denied on the 45th day unless the time period has been 
extended, in which case it shall be denied on the last day of the period specified in the extension 
agreement.  (Government Code 911.6) 
Action on Claims 
 
Within 45 days after the presentation or amendment of a claim, the Board shall take action on the 
claim.  This time limit may be extended by written agreement between the district and the claimant 
before the expiration of the 45-day period.  If the 45-day period has expired, the time limit may be 
extended if legal action has not commenced or been barred by legal limitations.  (Government 
Code 912.4) 
 
The Board may act on the claim in one of the following ways:  (Government Code 912.4, 912.6) 
 
1. If the Board finds that the claim is not a proper charge against the district, the claim shall 

be rejected. 
 
2. If the Board finds that the claim is a proper charge against the district and is for an amount 

justly due, the claim shall be allowed. 
 
3. If the Board finds that the claim is a proper charge against the district but is for an amount 

greater than is justly due, the Board shall either reject the claim or allow it in the amount 
justly due and reject it as to the balance. 

 
4. If legal liability of the district or the amount justly due is disputed, the Board may reject or 

compromise the claim. 
 
5. If the Board takes no action on the claim, the claim shall be deemed rejected. 
If the Board allows the claim in whole or in part or compromises the claim and the claimant accepts 
the amount allowed or offered to settle the claim, the Board may require the claimant to accept it 
in settlement of the entire claim.  (Government Code 912.6) 
 
The Board or its designee shall transmit to the claimant written notice of action taken or of inaction 
which is deemed rejection.  The notice shall be in the form set forth in Government Code 913 and 
shall either be personally delivered or mailed to the address stated in the claim or application.  
(Government Code 913, 915.4) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 14, 2016 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Business and Noninstructional Operations   
AR 3460 
 
FINANCIAL REPORTS AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
Interim Reports 
 

Note:  Education Code 42130 requires that the district issue two interim fiscal reports; see the accompanying Board 
policy for information about the use of these reports to certify whether the district will be able to meet its fiscal 
obligations for the remainder of the fiscal year and, based on current forecasts, for the two subsequent fiscal years. 

 
Each interim fiscal report developed pursuant to Education Code 42130 shall include an 
assessment of the district budget as revised to reflect current information regarding the adopted 
state budget, district property tax revenues, if any, and ending balances for the preceding fiscal 
year.  (Education Code 42130, 42131) 
 

Note:  Interim reports must be based on the criteria and standards adopted by the State Board of Education (SBE) 
pursuant to Education Code 33127. These criteria and standards are specified in 5 CCR 15453-15464 and address 
the areas listed below. 

 
The interim reports shall be based on State Board of Education (SBE) criteria and standards which 
address fund and cash balances, reserves, deficit spending, estimation of average daily attendance 
(ADA), projected enrollment, ratio of ADA to enrollment, projected local control funding formula 
(LCFF) revenue, salaries and benefits, other revenues and expenditures, and facilities maintenance. 
For purposes of assessing projections of LCFF revenue, the first interim report shall be compared 
to the adopted district budget, and the second interim report shall be compared to the projections 
in the first interim report.  (Education Code 42130; 5 CCR 15453-15464) 
(cf. 3100 - Budget); (cf. 3220.1 - Lottery Funds); (cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases) 
(cf. 3314 - Payment for Goods and Services) 
 
The report shall also provide supplemental information regarding contingent liabilities, use of one-
time revenues for ongoing expenditures, contingent revenues, contributions (i.e., projected 
contributions from unrestricted general fund resources to restricted general fund resources, 
projected transfers to or from the general fund to cover operating deficits in the general fund or 
any other fund, and capital project cost overruns that may impact the general fund budget), long-
term commitments, unfunded liabilities, temporary interfund borrowings, the status of labor 
agreements, and the status of other funds.  (Education Code 42130; 5 CCR 15453, 15464) 
(cf. 3110 - Transfer of Funds) 
 
Audit Report 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 41020, each year the district is required to arrange for an independent audit of 
all the district's funds. The audit must be approved by the Governing Board and submitted to the County 
Superintendent of Schools, California Department of Education (CDE), and State Controller within specified 
timelines.  See the accompanying Board policy. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a timetable for the completion and review of the 
annual audit within the deadlines established by law. 



2 
 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional.  Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 34 
contains requirements for the contents of the district's annual audited financial reports. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide the necessary financial records and cooperate with 
the auditor selected by the Governing Board of Education to ensure that the audit report contains 
all information required by law and the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 41020, the audit must include an audit of income and expenditures for all 
district funds, as provided below. Additionally, Education Code 41020 requires that the audit include a 
determination of whether funds were expended in accordance with the district's local control and accountability 
plan (LCAP).  Pursuant to Education Code 52061, the annual update to the LCAP must list expenditures for 
specific actions to be taken to achieve the goals in the LCAP, including expenditures for services to English 
learners, foster youth, and students eligible for free and reduced-price meals. See BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and 
Accountability Plan for requirements pertaining to the LCAP. 

 
The audit shall include an audit of income and expenditures by source of funds for all funds of the 
district, including the student body and cafeteria funds and accounts, state and federal grant funds, 
and any other funds under the control or jurisdiction of the district, as well as an audit of student 
attendance procedures. The audit shall also include a determination of whether LCFF funds were 
expended in accordance with the district's local control and accountability plan or an approved 
annual update of the plan.  (Education Code 41020) 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan); (cf. 3230 - Federal Grant Funds); (cf. 3430 - Investing); (cf. 3451 
- Petty Cash Funds); (cf. 3452 - Student Activity Funds); (cf. 3551 - Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that elect to participate in the school district of 
choice program (Education Code 48300-48316); see BP/AR 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance. Pursuant to Education 
Code 48301, any district that elects to participate in the school district of choice program must ensure that its 
annual financial audit includes a review of the district's compliance with program requirements to establish a 
random, unbiased process for student admittance and to provide appropriate and factually accurate parent/guardian 
communications. 

 
If the district participates in the school district of choice program to accept interdistrict transfers, 
the Superintendent or designee shall notify the auditor, prior to the commencement of the audit, 
that the audit must include a review of the district's compliance with specified program 
requirements.  (Education Code 48301) 
(cf. 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 41344 and 41344.1, the district may appeal to the Education Audit Appeals 
Panel (EAAP) when an audit finding requires the district to repay an apportionment or pay a penalty.  If the EAAP 
finds that there has been substantial compliance with the law, it may waive or reduce repayments or order other 
remedial measures to induce future compliance. 

 
If an audit finding results in the district being required to repay an apportionment or pay a penalty, 
the district may appeal the finding to the Education Audit Appeals Panel by making an informal 
summary appeal within 30 days of receiving the final audit report or initiating a formal appeal 
within 60 days of receiving the report.  (Education Code 41344, 41344.1) 
 
While a public accounting firm is performing the audit of the district, it shall not provide any 
nonauditing, management, or other consulting services for the district except as provided in 
Government Auditing Standards, Amendment #3, published by the U.S. Government 
Accountability Office.  (Education Code 41020) 



3 
 
 
Report on Expenditures of State Facilities Funds 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 41024, as added by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017) and amended by AB 1808 
(Ch. 32, Statutes of 2018), districts that receive state facilities funding pursuant to the Leroy F. Greene School 
Facilities Act (Education Code 17070.10-17079.30) must annually report a detailed list of all expenditures of state 
funds, including interest, and of the district's matching funds for completed projects. Education Code 41024 
requires that an audit of completed facilities projects be submitted within one year of project completion. 
 
Education Code 41024 requires CDE to provide the Office of Public School Construction with a copy of the audit 
identifying any adjustments to be made in grant funding as a result of the audit findings. The district may appeal 
any finding in accordance with the timelines and process specified in Education Code 41344. 

 
When the district participates in the school facilities program pursuant to Education Code 
17070.10-17079.30, the Superintendent or designee shall annually report a detailed list of all 
expenditures of state facilities funds, including interest, and of the district's matching funds for 
completed projects until all such funds are expended. The report shall identify expenditures on a 
project-by-project basis, reflect completed projects that were reimbursed within that fiscal year, 
and clearly indicate the list of projects that have been completed.  (Education Code 41024; 2 CCR 
1859.104) 
 
Audits of facilities projects shall be concluded within one year of project completion, and shall be 
included as part of the district's audit for the fiscal year in which the project is reported as 
completed.  A project shall be deemed completed when any of the following conditions is met:  
(Education Code 41024; 2 CCR 1859.104) 
 
1. When the notice of completion for the project has been filed, all outstanding invoices, 

claims, and change orders have been satisfied, and the facility is currently in use by the 
district 

 
2. Three years from the date of the final fund release for an elementary school project 
 
3. Four years from the date of the final fund release for a middle or high school project 
 
Fund Balance 
 

Note:  The following optional section reflects GASB Statement 54, which addresses the manner in which fund 
balances in the general fund must be reported in external financial reports. Pursuant to GASB 54, the Board has 
sole authority to specify purposes of committed funds (item #3 below) and also must express, or delegate the 
authority to express, intended purposes of resources resulting in the assigned fund balance (item #4 below); see 
BP 3100 - Budget. 

 
In accordance with GASB Statement 54, external financial reports shall report fund balances in 
the general fund within the following classifications based on the relative strength of constraints 
placed on the purposes for which resources can be used: 
 
1. Nonspendable fund balance, including amounts that are not expected to be converted to 

cash, such as resources that are not in a spendable form or are legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact 

 
2. Restricted fund balance, including amounts constrained to specific purposes by their 

providers or by law 



4 
 
 
3. Committed fund balance, including amounts constrained to specific purposes by the Board 
 
4. Assigned fund balance, including amounts which the Board or its designee intends to use 

for a specific purpose 
 
5. Unassigned fund balance, including amounts that are available for any purpose 
 
Negative Balance Report 
 

Note:  When applicable, Education Code 42127.5 requires districts to report the reasons for a negative unrestricted 
fund balance or negative cash balance. "Unrestricted funds" are any funds that are not constrained by law to be 
spent on specific purposes and which therefore may be spent as the Board deems appropriate. Such funds may be 
reported in the committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, or unassigned fund balance as provided in items 
#3-5 in the section "Fund Balance" above. 

 
Whenever the district reports a negative unrestricted fund balance or a negative cash balance in its 
annual budget or annual audit report, it shall include in the budget a statement that identifies the 
reasons for the negative unrestricted fund balance or negative cash balance and the steps that have 
been taken to ensure that the negative balance will not occur at the end of the current fiscal year.  
(Education Code 42127.5) 
 
Non-Voter-Approved Debt Report 
 

Note:  The following section addresses notices regarding the issuance of revenue bonds, certificates of 
participation, and other non-voter-approved debts. Pursuant to Education Code 17150 and 17150.1, the County 
Superintendent and county auditor may, within 15 days of receiving these notices from the district, comment 
publicly to the Board regarding the capability of the district to repay the debt obligation. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 42133, a district that has a qualified or negative certification in any fiscal year cannot 
issue non-voter-approved debt in that fiscal year or in the next fiscal year unless the County Superintendent 
determines that the district's repayment of the debt is probable. 

 
Upon approval by the Board to proceed with the issuance of revenue bonds or any agreement for 
financing school construction pursuant to Education Code 17170-17199.5, the Superintendent or 
designee shall notify the County Superintendent of Schools and the county auditor. The 
Superintendent or designee shall provide the Board, the county auditor, the County Superintendent, 
and the public with related repayment schedules and evidence of the district's ability to repay the 
obligation.  (Education Code 17150) 
(cf. 3470 - Debt Issuance and Management); (cf. 7214 - General Obligation Bonds) 
 
When the Board is considering the issuance of certificates of participation and other debt 
instruments that are secured by real property and do not require the approval of the voters of the 
district, the Superintendent or designee shall provide notice to the County Superintendent and 
county auditor no later than 30 days before the Board's approval to proceed with issuance.  The 
Superintendent or designee shall provide the Board, the county auditor, the County Superintendent, 
and the public with information necessary to assess the anticipated effect of the debt issuance, 
including related repayment schedules, evidence of the district's ability to repay the obligation, and 
the issuance costs.  (Education Code 17150.1) 
 
 
 



5 
 
Other Postemployment Benefits Report 

Note:  The following section reflects GASB Statement 75, which contains reporting requirements pertaining to 
"other postemployment benefits" (OPEBs) (i.e., medical, dental, vision, hearing, life insurance, long-term care, 
long-term disability, and other nonpension benefits for retired employees). Under GASB 75, districts that do not 
provide OPEB through a trust are required to report the total unfunded liability (i.e., OPEBs that are not prefunded), 
as calculated in the most recent actuary report, in the district's financial statements. The decision of whether to 
prefund the benefits, and by how much, is at the Board's discretion; see BP 3100 - Budget. 
The SBE's criteria and standards for budget adoption (5 CCR 15440-15451) require districts to estimate unfunded 
OPEBs as well as the unfunded portion of any self-insured benefits program. Changes to the unfunded liabilities 
are disclosed at interim reporting periods pursuant to 5 CCR 15453 and 15464. These reports are included in the 
state's standardized account code structure software used to develop budget and interim reports. 
CSBA's OPEB Solutions Program provides access to qualified actuaries and consultants and a GASB 75-compliant 
trust to prefund future obligations. See CSBA's web site for further information. 
 
The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice and should be deleted by districts that do 
not provide OPEBs. 

 
In accordance with GASB Statement 75, the district's financial statements shall report the expense 
of nonpension other postemployment benefits (OPEBs) on an accrual basis over retirees' active 
working lifetime, as determined by a qualified actuary procured by the Superintendent or designee. 
To the extent that these OPEBs are not prefunded, the district shall report a liability on its financial 
statements. 
(cf. 4154/4254/4354 - Health and Welfare Benefits); (cf. 9250 - Remuneration, Reimbursement and Other Benefits) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually present the estimated accrued but unfunded cost of 
OPEBs and the actuarial report upon which those costs are based at a public meeting of the Board. 
(Ed (Education Code 42140) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to GASB 75, the district must arrange for an actuary to update the valuation of its OPEB obligations 
every two years. However, GASB 75 includes an option for the use of a specified alternative method in lieu of an 
actuarial valuation for purposes of determining the total OPEB liability for benefits provided through an OPEB 
plan with fewer than 100 members. Such districts may modify the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

 
The district's financial obligation for OPEBs shall be reevaluated every two years in accordance 
with GASB 75. 
 
Workers' Compensation Claims Report 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that are self-insured for workers' compensation claims, 
either individually or as part of a joint powers agency.  See BP 3100 - Budget for provisions related to funding the 
estimated accrued cost of workers' compensation claims. 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually provide the Board, at a public meeting, information 
and related actuarial reports showing the estimated accrued but unfunded cost of workers' 
compensation claims. The estimate of costs shall be based on an actuarial report completed at least 
every three years by a qualified actuary.  (Education Code 42141) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 14, 2011 
revised: May 13, 2014 
revised: October 11, 2016 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
**Change made and highlighted on page 2 per Sue’s review and feedback 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Certificated Personnel  
BP 4114 
 
TRANSFERS 
 

Note:  The following optional policy is subject to collective bargaining agreements and should be revised to reflect 
district practice. 

 
The Governing Board desires that certificated staff be assigned in a manner that equitably 
distributes highly qualified and experienced teachers, meets the needs of district students, and 
satisfies staffing requirements at each school. The Superintendent or designee is authorized to 
assign certificated staff in accordance with district policy and/or the collective bargaining 
agreement as applicable. 
(cf. 0415 - Equity) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
(cf. 4113 - Assignment) 
(cf. 4141/4241- Collective Bargaining Agreement) 
 
Subject to the approval of the Board of Education, the Superintendent or designee may transfer a 
teacher from one district school to another when he/she determines the transfer is in the best 
interest of the district.  (Education Code 35035) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) & (cf. 4113 - Assignment) 
 
Such transfers shall be determined in accordance with the district's collective bargaining agreement 
with certificated employees.  
(cf. 4141/4241- Collective Bargaining Agreement) 
 
Voluntary Transfers 
 
The Superintendent or designee may establish processes and deadlines for the submission of 
transfer requests to facilitate staff assignments with minimal disruption to the educational program.  
 
Upon receipt of a written transfer request by a teacher, the Superintendent or designee may 
consider the input of the principals at the current school and the requested school, alignment of the 
teacher's qualifications with needs of students and the school(s), the academic performance of the 
requested school, and opportunities for the professional growth of the teacher.   
(cf. 4112.2 - Certification) 
(cf. 4112.22 - Staff Teaching Students of Limited English ProficiencyLearners) 
(cf. 4112.23 - Special Education Staff) 
(cf. 4112.24 - Teacher Qualifications Under the No Child Left Behind Act) 
 
However, if the principal of a school ranked in deciles 1-3 on the Academic Performance Index 
refuses to accept a transfer request, the Superintendent or designee shall not transfer the teacher. 
(Education Code 35036)  
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
(cf. 0520 - Intervention for Underperforming Schools) 
(cf. 0520.1 - High Priority Schools Grant Program) 
(cf. 0520.2 - Title I Program Improvement Schools) 
(cf. 0520.4 - Quality Education Investment Schools) 



2 
 
 
Where the request is made for a transfer to take effect at the beginning of the next school year, it 
shall be made no later than June 1 of the school year preceding the effective date. After April 15 
prior to the school year that a transfer would become effective, Nno teacher who requests to be 
transferred to another school shall have priority over other qualified teachers who have applied for 
positions requiring certification qualifications at that school.  (Education Code 35036)  
 
Involuntary Transfers 
 
Involuntary transfers may become necessary when programs are reduced or cancelled, when 
schools are closed, or when otherwise required in order to accommodate the school's staffing 
needs.  
(cf. 4117.3 - Personnel Reduction) 
 
If a teacher objects to a transfer, he/she may request a meeting with the Superintendent or designee 
and the principal.  If dissatisfied with the results of this meeting, the teacher may appeal to the 
Board.  The Board's decision shall be final. 
 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
35035  Additional powers and duties of superintendent, transfer authority 
35036  Voluntary transfers 
35186  Complaint process, teacher vacancy or misassignment 
37616  Assignment of teachers to year-round schools 

44395-44398  Incentives for assigning NBPTS-certified teachers to high-priority schools 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
3543.2  Scope of representation 

 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDCUATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Students  
BP 5141.6 
 
SCHOOL HEALTH SERVICES 
 

Note:  The following optional policy should be revised to reflect district practice. This policy addresses the 
provision of health services at or near school sites (e.g., a school-based or school-linked health center or mobile 
van) through the employment of or contract with health care professionals or community health centers. Districts 
maintaining or planning to establish school health services are encouraged to review CSBA's policy brief entitled 
Expanding Access to School Health Services: Policy Considerations for Governing Boards. 
 
Other CSBA sample policies and/or administrative regulations address specific health requirements and services 
for students. For example, see BP/AR 5141.21 - Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions, 
AR 5141.24 - Specialized Health Care Services, BP/AR 5141.3 - Health Examinations, and AR 5141.32 - Health 
Screening for School Entry. 

 
The Governing Board of Education recognizes that good physical and mental health is critical to 
a student's ability to learn and believes that all students should have access to comprehensive health 
services.  The district may provide access to health services at or near district schools through the 
establishment of a school health center and/or mobile van(s) that serve multiple campuses. 
 
The Board and the Superintendent or designee mayshall collaborate with local and state agencies 
and health care providers to assess the health needs of students in district schools and the 
community. Based on the results of this needs assessment and the availability of resources, the 
Superintendent or designee shall recommend for Board approval the types of health services to be 
provided by the district. 
(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 
(cf. 5131.61 - Drug Testing) 
(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 
(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
(cf. 5141.21 - Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions) 
(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 
(cf. 5141.23 - Asthma Management) 
(cf. 5141.24 - Specialized Health Care Services) 
(cf. 5141.25 - Availability of Condoms) 
(cf. 5141.26 - Tuberculosis Testing) 
(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 
(cf. 5141.31 - Immunizations) 
(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry) 
(cf. 5141.33 - Head Lice) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention) 
(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 
 

Note:  School health centers are generally funded by a combination of insurance reimbursements; state, federal, 
and county grants; district funds; subsidies from community clinics or hospitals; and/or private donations. 

 



2 
 
Board approval shall be required for any proposed use of district resources and facilities to support 
school health services. The Superintendent or designee shall identify funding opportunities 
available through grant programs, private foundations, and partnerships with local agencies and 
organizations. 
(cf. 1260 - Educational Foundation) 
(cf. 1330.1 - Joint Use Agreement) 
(cf. 3100 - Budget) 
(cf. 7000 - Facilities Master Plan) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The Board may prioritize school health services to schools serving students with the greatest need, 
including schools with medically underserved populations and/or a high percentage of low-income 
and uninsured children and youth. 
(cf. 0415 - Equity) 
 
School health services shall be provided or supervised byunder the supervision of a licensed health 
care professional. The Board may employ or contract with health care professionals or partner with 
community health centers to provide the services under the terms of a written contract or 
memorandum of understanding. 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 
 
If a school nurse is employed by the school or district, he/she shall be involved in planning and 
implementing the school health services as appropriate. 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. The California Department of 
Education's Health Framework for California Public Schools recommends a coordinated school health approach 
which integrates health services, health education, physical education, parent/community involvement, nutrition 
services, psychological and counseling services, a safe and healthy school environment, and health promotion for 
staff. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall coordinate the provision of school health services with other 
student wellness initiatives, including health education, nutrition and physical fitness programs, 
and other activities designed to create a healthy school environment. The Superintendent or 
designee shall encourage joint planning and regular communications among health services staff, 
district administrators, teachers, counselors, other staff, and parents/guardians. 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Counseling/Guidance Services) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to engage in outreach and enrollment 
efforts to encourage eligible students' participation in no-cost or low-cost health coverage programs. 
 
Education Code 49557.2 authorizes the district to include on the application for free and reduced-price meals 
information about the Medi-Cal program and a student's potential eligibility. Pursuant to Education Code 49558, 
districts may release information on the free and reduced-price meals application to the local agency that 
determines eligibility under the Medi-Cal program, provided that the student is approved for free meals and the 
parent/guardian consents to the sharing of information. See BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. 

 
To further encourage student access to health care services, the Superintendent or designee shall 
develop and implement outreach strategies to increase enrollment of eligible students from low- 



3 
 
to moderate-income families in affordable, comprehensive state or federal health coverage 
programs and local health initiatives. Such strategies may include, but are not limited to, providing 
information about the Medi-Cal program on the application for free and reduced-price meals in 
accordance with law. 
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals) 
 
Consent and Confidentiality 
 

Note:  Parent/guardian consent is generally required prior to providing health services to a minor student. However, 
Family Code 6920-6929 specify exceptions under which minors do not need parent/guardian consent prior to 
receiving services, including an exception for a minor age 12 years or older to consent to medical care related to 
the prevention of a sexually transmitted disease.  In addition, Health and Safety Code 124260 allows a minor age 
12 or older to consent to outpatient mental health services if, in the opinion of a professional person, as defined, 
the minor is mature enough to participate intelligently in the mental health treatment or counseling services. In this 
case, the child's parent/guardian must be involved unless the professional person determines it would be 
inappropriate. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall obtain written parent/guardian consent prior to providing 
services to a student, except when the student is authorized to consent to the service pursuant to 
Family Code 6920-6929, Health and Safety Code 124260, or other applicable law. 
 

Note:  The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) (45 CFR 164.500-164.534) mandates 
actions that "covered entities" must take to protect the privacy of an individual's health information.  Generally, 
entities covered by HIPAA may release or receive "protected health information" about an individual only if that 
individual gives permission or the Act expressly permits its release. Districts with questions about the applicability 
of HIPAA should consult legal counsel as appropriate. 
In addition, 22 CCR 51270 requires districts serving as Medi-Cal providers (see section entitled 
"Payment/Reimbursement for Services" below) to comply with confidentiality requirements specified in 
Education Code 49073-49079, Welfare and Institutions Code 14100.2, 22 CCR 51009, 42 USC 1320c-9, and 42 
CFR 431.300. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain the confidentiality of student health records in 
accordance with law. 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
Payment/Reimbursement for Services 
 
To further encourage student access to health care services, the Superintendent or designee shall 
develop and implement outreach strategies to increase enrollment of eligible students from low- 
to moderate-income families in affordable, comprehensive state or federal health 
coverage programs and local health initiatives.  Such strategies may include, but not be limited to, 
providing information about the Medi-Cal program on the application for free and reduced-price 
meals in accordance with law and providing students and parents/guardians with information about 
the low-cost Healthy Families insurance program. 

Note:  Some school health services, such as medical and related services specified in an individualized education 
program for students with disabilities, must be provided free of charge.  For other services, districts may charge a 
fee and are entitled to seek third-party reimbursement from students' private insurance and state or federal 
programs such as Medi-Cal or the Child Health and Disability Prevention program. See the accompanying 
administrative regulation. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may bill public and private insurance programs and other 
applicable programs for reimbursement of services as appropriate. Services may be provided free 
of charge or on a sliding scale in accordance with law. 
(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 



4 
 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that have received approval from the California 
Department of Health Care Services to serve as Medi-Cal providers. Pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 
14132.06 and 22 CCR 51051 and 51190.1, to the extent that federal funding is available, local educational agencies 
(LEAs) may receive partial Medi-Cal reimbursement through the LEA Medi-Cal Billing Option for health services 
provided to an enrolled student under age 22 who is certified for Medi-Cal and/or a member of the student's family. 
In addition, pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 14132.47, LEAs may be reimbursed through the Medi-Cal 
Administrative Activities (MAA) program for some of their administrative costs associated with school-based 
health and outreach activities that are not claimable under the LEA Medi-Cal Billing Option or other programs. 
See the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
Districts may receive assistance with Medi-Cal billing through CSBA's Practi-Cal program. See CSBA's web site 
for further information. 

 
The district shall serve as a Medi-Cal provider to the extent feasible, comply with all related legal 
requirements, and seek reimbursement of costs to the extent allowed by law. 
 
Program Evaluation 
 
In order to continuously improve school health services, the Board shall evaluate the effectiveness 
of such services and the extent to which they continue to meet student needs. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide the Board with periodic reports that may include, 
but are not necessarily limited to, rates of participation in school health services; changes in student 
outcomes such as school attendance or achievement; measures of school climate; feedback from 
staff and participants regarding program accessibility and operations, including accessibility to 
low-income and linguistically and culturally diverse students and families; and program costs and 
revenues. 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
8800-8807  Healthy Start support services for children 

49073-49079  Privacy of student records 
49423.5  Specialized physical health care services 
49557.2-49558  Eligibility for free and reduced-price meals; sharing  information with Medi-Cal FAMILY 
CODE 
6920-6929  Consent by minor for medical treatment 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
95020  Individualized family service plan 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
104830-104865 School-based application of fluoride or other tooth decay-inhibiting agent 
121020  HIV/AIDS testing and treatment; parental consent for minor under age 12 
123110  Minor's right to access health records 
123115  Limitation on parent/guardian access to minor's health records 
123800-123995  California Children's Services Act 
124025-124110  Child Health and Disability Prevention Program 
124172-124174.6  Public School Health Center Support Program 
124260 Mental health services; consent by minors age 12 and older 
130300-130317  Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) 
WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 
14059.5  Definition of "medically necessary" 
14100.2  Confidentiality of Medi-Cal information 
14115 Medi-Cal claims process 
14115.8 LEA Medi-Cal Billing Option, program guide 



5 
 

14124.90  Third-party health coverage 
14132.06  Covered benefits; health services provided by local educational agencies 
14132.47  Administrative claiming process and targeted case management 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 10 
2699.6500-2699.6905  Healthy Families Program 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 17 
2951  Testing standards for hearing tests 
6800-6874  Child Health and Disability Prevention Program 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 22 
51009  Confidentiality 
51050-51192  Definitions of Medi-Cal providers and services 
51200  Requirements for providers 
51231.2  Wheelchair van requirements 
51270  Local educational agency provider; conditions for participation 
51304  Limitations on specified benefits 
51309  Psychology, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech pathology, audiological services 
51323  Medical transportation services 
51351  Targeted case management services 
51360  Local educational agency; types of services 
51491  Local educational agency eligibility for payment 
51535.5  Reimbursement to local educational agency providers 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1232g  Family Educational Rights and Privacy Rights Act (FERPA) 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
1320c-9  Prohibition against disclosure of records 
1397aa-1397jj1397mm  State Children's Health Insurance Program 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 42 
431.300  Use and disclosure of information on Medicaid applicants and recipients 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 45 
164.500-164.534  Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) 

 
Management Resources: 

CSBA PUBLICATIONS 
Expanding Access to School Health Services: Policy Considerations for Governing Boards, Policy Brief, 
November 2008 
Promoting Oral Health for California's StudentStudents:  New Role, New Opportunities for Schools, 
Policy Brief, November 2008 

Providing School Health Services in California: Perceptions, Challenges and Needs of District 
Leadership Teams, 2008 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Health Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 2003 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES PUBLICATIONS 
LEA Medi-Cal Provider Manual 
California School-Based Medi-Cal Administrative Activities Manual 
LEA Medi-Cal Provider Manual 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES POLICY LETTERS 
00-06 Managed Care Plan Relationships with Local Education Agency Providers, December 11, 
2000 

NATIONAL ASSEMBLY ONCALIFORNIA SCHOOL-BASED HEALTH CAREALLIANCE 
PUBLICATIONS 
A Guidebook for EvaluatingHow to Fund Health Services in Your School District, September 2014 
Documenting the Link Between School-Based Health Centers and Academic Success, May 2014 
NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW PUBLICATIONS 

Minor Consent, Confidentiality, an Child Abuse Reporting in California, October 2006 
Confidential Medical Release: Frequently Asked Questions from Schools and Districts, November 2015 
WEB SITES 
CSBA: http://www.csba.org 



6 
 

CSBA, PractiCalPracti-Cal Program:  
http://www.csba.org/Services/Services/DistrictServicesProductsAndServices/AllServices/PractiCal.
aspx 
California County Superintendents Educational Services Association: http://www.ccsesa.org 
California Department of Education, Health Services and School Nursing:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/he/hn 
California Department of Health Care Services: http://www.dhcs.ca.gov 
California Department of Public Health: http://www.cdph.ca.gov 
California School-Based Health Centers AssociationAlliance: http://www.schoolhealthcenters.org 
California School Nurses Organization: http://www.csno.org 
Center for Health and Health Care in Schools: http://www.healthinschools.org 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, School Health Policies and Programs (SHPPS) Study: 
http://www.cdc.gov/HealthyYouth/shpps 
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services:  http://www.cms.hhs.gov 

Healthy Families Program:  http://www.healthyfamilies.ca.gov 
National Assembly on School-Based Health Care: http://www.nasbhc.org 

National Center for Youth Law:  http://www.youthlaw.org 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 14, 2012 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
**NEW** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students  
AR 5141.6 
 
SCHOOL HEALTH SERVICES 
 
Types of Health Services 
 

Note:  The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
In accordance with student and community needs and available resources, school health services 
offered by the district may include, but are not limited to: 
 
1. Health screenings, evaluations, and assessments of students' need for health services 
 
2. Physical examinations, immunizations, and other preventive medical services 

(cf. 5141.26 - Tuberculosis Testing) 
(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 
(cf. 5141.31 - Immunizations) 
(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry) 

 
3. First aid and administration of medications 

(cf. 5141.21 - Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions) 
 
4. Diagnosis and treatment of minor injuries and acute medical conditions 
 
5. Management of chronic medical conditions 

(cf. 5141.23 - Asthma Management) 
 
6. Basic laboratory tests 
 
7. Emergency response procedures 

(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
 
8. Nutrition services 

(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 

 
9. Oral health services that may include preventive services, basic restorative services, and 

referral to specialty services 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Health and Safety Code 104830-104865, elementary and secondary students must be offered 
an opportunity each school year to receive a topical application of fluoride or other decay-inhibiting agent by a 
dentist or dental assistant, under a program organized and operated by the county health officer. Districts are 
required to cooperate with the county health officer in carrying out the program in any school in their jurisdiction 
and to provide notification to parents/guardians regarding the availability of the program, as provided below. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall notify all parents/guardians of the opportunity 
pursuant to Health and Safety Code 104830-104865 for their child to receive the topical 



2 
 

application of fluoride, including fluoride varnish, or other decay-inhibiting agent to the 
teeth during the school year. Such application of fluoride or other decay-inhibiting agent 
shall only be provided to a student whose parent/guardian returns the notification with an 
indication consenting to the treatment.  (Health and Safety Code 104830, 104850, 104855) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

 
10. Mental health services, which may include assessments, crisis intervention, counseling, 

treatment, and referral to a continuum of services including emergency psychiatric care, 
community support programs, inpatient care, and outpatient programs 
(cf. 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Counseling/Guidance Services) 

 
11. Substance abuse prevention and intervention services 

(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 
(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 
(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 

 
12. Vision and audiology services 
 
13. Speech therapy 
 
14. Occupational therapy 
 
15. Physical therapy 
 

Note:  Item #16 may be deleted by districts that offer only elementary grades. 
 
16. Reproductive health services 

(cf. 5141.25 - Availability of Condoms) 
 
17. Specialized health care services for students with disabilities 

(cf. 5141.24 - Specialized Health Care Services) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 

 
18. Medical transportation 
 
19. Targeted case management 
 
20. Referrals and linkage to services not offered on-site 
 
21. Public health and disease surveillance 
 
22. Individual and family health education 
 
23. School or districtwide health promotion 
 
Medi-Cal Billing 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that have contracted with the California Department 
of Health Care Services (DHCS) in order to provide services as a Medi-Cal provider as authorized by Welfare and 
Institutions Code 14132.06; see the accompanying Board policy.  To the extent that the district contracts with 



3 
 

health care practitioners or clinics to provide the services, the practitioner or clinic is considered the provider of 
services and is the entity billing and receiving Medi-Cal payments for services. 
 
Welfare and Institutions Code 14115.8, as amended by AB 3192 (Ch. 658, Statutes of 2018), requires DHCS, by 
January 1, 2020, to develop and distribute a program guide containing information regarding processes, 
documentation, and the proper submission of claims under the LEA Medi-Cal Billing Option program. 

 
In order to provide services as a Medi-Cal provider, the district shall enter into and maintain a 
contract with the California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS).  (Welfare and 
Institutions Code 14132.06; 22 CCR 51051, 51270) 
 

Note:  With the exception of health care aides who provide specialized physical health care services pursuant to 
Education Code 49423.5, any practitioner whom the district employs or with whom it contracts must be 
credentialed to practice as a physician, registered nurse, psychologist, school counselor, or one of the other 
professions listed in 22 CCR 51190.3 in order for the district to receive Medi-Cal reimbursement. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all practitioners employed by or under contract 
with the district possess the appropriate license, certification, registration, or credential and provide 
only those services that are within their scope of practice.  (22 CCR 51190.3, 51270, 51491) 
 

Note:  Reimbursement under Medi-Cal is limited to the services specified in Welfare and Institutions Code 
14132.06 and 22 CCR 51190.4 and 51360. Pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 14132.06, services may be 
reimbursable whether or not the student has an individualized education program (IEP) or individualized family 
service plan (IFSP) or whether those same services are provided at no charge to the beneficiary or to the community 
at large. 
 
22 CCR 51360 provides that services for accompanying a student off campus for nursing or school health aide 
services will be reimbursable when specified as medically necessary in an IEP or IFSP. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall submit a claim for Medi-Cal reimbursement whenever the 
district provides a Medi-Cal-eligible student under age 22 and/or a member of the student's family 
a covered service specified in 22 CCR 51190.4 or 51360.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 
14132.06; 22 CCR 51096, 51098, 51190.1, 51190.4, 51309, 51360, 51535.5) 
 
The district shall maintain records and supporting documentation including, but not limited to, 
records of the type and extent of services provided to a Medi-Cal beneficiary in accordance with 
law.  (22 CCR 51270, 51476) 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 

Note:  22 CCR 51270 requires federal reimbursements to be reinvested in health and social services for students 
and their families, as provided below. This requirement does not apply to reimbursements received under the Medi-
Cal Administrative Activities (MAA) program described in the following section. 

 
Any federal funds received by the district as reimbursement for the costs of services under the 
Medi-Cal billing option shall be reinvested in approved services for students and their families.  
The Superintendent or designee shall consult with a local school-linked services collaborative 
group regarding decisions on reinvestment of federal funds.  (22 CCR 51270) 
 

Note:  22 CCR 51270 requires that districts submit an annual report, as described below, as a condition of continued 
participation as a Medi-Cal provider. The deadline for this annual report is specified in the program provider 
participation agreement that districts enter into with DHCS. 

 



4 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall submit an annual report to DHCS to identify participants in 
the community collaborative, provide a financial summary including reinvestment expenditures, 
and describe service priorities for the future.  (22 CCR 51270) 
 
Medi-Cal Administrative Activities 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that participate in the MAA program administered by 
DHCS pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 14132.47. Under this program, districts providing Medi-Cal-
covered health services may be reimbursed for some of their administrative and outreach costs. This section reflects 
program requirements described in the California School-Based Medi-Cal Administrative Activities Manual 
published by DHCS. 
 
Districts may receive assistance with Medi-Cal administrative billing through CSBA's Practi-Cal program. See 
CSBA's web site for further information. 

 
The district shall apply for reimbursement for activities identified by DHCS which are related to 
the administration of the Medi-Cal program. Such activities include, but are not be limited to, 
outreach, translation for Medi-Cal services, facilitation of applications, arrangement of 
nonemergency and nonmedical transportation of eligible individuals, program planning and policy 
development, claims coordination and administration, training, and general administration. 
 
Appropriate staff shall receive training in administrative claiming categories and related activities. 
 

Note:  The district must submit claims through either a local educational agency consortium (i.e., one of the service 
regions of the California County Superintendent Educational Services Association) or a local governmental agency 
(i.e., county or chartered city) that has contracted with DHCS. The district may modify the following two 
paragraphs to reflect the appropriate entity or agency. 

 
To receive reimbursement for Medi-Cal administrative activities, the Superintendent or designee 
shall, on a quarterly basis, submit an invoice to the local educational consortium or local 
governmental agency through which the district has contracted. 
 

Note:  The MAA program requires randomly selected employees who perform MAA activities as a normal part of 
their job duties to complete a random-moment time study which is used to determine the work effort of all time 
study participants over a given time period. Further information regarding the required procedure is available on 
the DHCS web site. 

 
In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall submit to the local educational consortium or 
local governmental agency, and shall update each quarter, a roster of all employees who perform 
direct Medi-Cal services or administrative activities. When notified by the local educational 
consortium or local governmental agency of the date and time that a random-moment time survey 
must be conducted by a particular employee, the Superintendent or designee shall coordinate the 
completion and submission of the survey in accordance with DHCS timelines and procedures. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain an audit file containing random-moment time 
survey documentation and other records specified by DHCS. Such documentation shall be kept for 
three years after the end of the quarter in which expenditures were incurred or, if an audit is in 
progress, until the completion of the audit. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation adopted: November 13, 2018 



1 
**Choose Option 1 or Option 2 on page 3** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Students  
BP 5144.1 
 
SUSPENSION AND EXPULSION/DUE PROCESS 
 

Note:  Education Code 35291 requires the Governing Board to prescribe rules and regulations for maintaining 
discipline in the schools under its jurisdiction. Education Code 48918 mandates the setting of rules and regulations 
for student expulsion as specified in this Board policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
While recognizing that suspension or expulsion of students is sometimes necessary, legislative, administrative, 
regulatory, civic, and educational leaders are united in the belief that instructional time should be used for student 
learning purposes and that school discipline should be imposed in a way that, as much as possible, does not exclude 
students from school or limit their ability or opportunity to learn. According to the U.S. Department of Justice's 
Civil Rights Division (DOJ) and the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR), in their joint 
January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, studies 
suggest a correlation between exclusionary discipline policies and practices (such as suspension and expulsion) 
and an array of serious educational, economic, and social problems, including school avoidance and diminished 
educational engagement, decreased academic achievement, increased behavior problems, and increased likelihood 
of dropping out, substance abuse, and involvement with the juvenile justice system. Consequently, they 
recommend that districts adopt alternative disciplinary measures that provide students with appropriate 
interventions and supports as a means for preventing and addressing student misbehaviors. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, a district is not authorized to suspend a student for certain specified violations 
unless the student has been subjected to other means of correction which have failed to bring about proper conduct. 
Such other means of correction include, but are not limited to, conferences between school personnel and the 
student and his/her parents/guardians; use of study, guidance, or other intervention teams to develop a plan to 
address the behavior in partnership with the student; and participation in a restorative justice program. For further 
information about specific disciplinary strategies, including alternatives to class or school removals, see BP/AR 
5144 - Discipline. Education Code 48900.5 authorizes a district to document in a student's records the alternative 
means of correction used to address the student's behavior. Furthermore, when a student is being suspended by the 
Superintendent, principal, or designee, Education Code 48911 requires that the student be informed, during the 
informal conference that precedes the suspension, of the other means of correction that were attempted before the 
suspension. 

 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an 
orderly school environment that protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-
being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board shall develop rules and regulations 
setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 
 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, 
and/or implementing suspension and expulsion shall be only those specified in law, in this policy, 
and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 



2 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900(s), a student may be subject to discipline only when the violation is 
related to a school activity or school attendance as specified below. A student may also be disciplined for a 
violation committed away from school if it is related to a school activity or to school attendance. For example, 
Education Code 48900 defines bullying by means of an electronic act as including an act that originates off 
campus; see the accompanying administrative regulation and BP/AR 5131.2 - Bullying.  Another example is the 
hostile school environment which a victim may suffer from sexual harassment that occurs off campus; see BP/AR 
5145.7 - Sexual Harassment. 

 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when 
his/her behavior is related to a school activity or school attendance occurring within any district 
school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, but not limited to, the 
following:  (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
 
2. While going to or coming from school 
 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 

(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
 

Note:  The following paragraph addresses the problem of unlawful discrimination in the administration of student 
discipline. In their joint January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School 
Discipline, DOJ and OCR noted that, based on the civil rights data collection conducted by OCR, students of 
certain racial or ethnic groups tended to be disciplined more, and sometimes more harshly, than their similarly 
situated peers in violation of federal nondiscrimination laws. The letter warned that any district determined to have 
engaged in unlawful discrimination could be subject to OCR investigation and significant remedial action. 

 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, 
consistently, equally, and in accordance with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.5 requires districts to use other means of correction instead of suspension or 
expulsion except when a student commits certain enumerated offenses. The following section reflects legislative 
intent regarding appropriate use of suspension as a means of disciplining students and may be modified to reflect 
district practice. 

 
Except when a student's act violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under 
"Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative 
regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, suspension shall be used only when 
other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  (Education Code 48900.5, 
48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 



3 
 

(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating 
pattern of misbehavior that could lead to on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900(k) prohibits a district from suspending students in grades K-3 for disruption or 
willful defiance and authorizes, but does not require, a district to suspend students in grades 4-12 for disruption or 
willful defiance.  Even with this authority, districts should be careful in using these grounds, as available data have 
indicated a disproportionate use with certain student subgroups. Option 1 below is for use by any district that 
chooses to suspend students in grades 4-12 for disruption and/or willful defiance as authorized pursuant to 
Education Code 48900(k). Any district that chooses to eliminate disruption and willful defiance as reasons for 
suspending any of its students from school should select Option 2 below. Such districts should also delete the first 
paragraph in the section titled "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12" in the 
accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
Each option below reflects an exception granted to teachers pursuant to Education Code 48910 to suspend students, 
including a K-3 student, from class; see section "Suspension from Class by a Teacher" in the accompanying 
administrative regulation. 

 
OPTION 1:  No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except 
by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 48910.  (Education Code 48900) 
 
OPTION 2:  No student may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher 
pursuant to Education Code 48910.  (Education Code 48900) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects the Legislature's intent, expressed in Education Code 48900, 
concerning disciplinary actions against truant, tardy, or absent students. Since these are not enumerated offenses, 
a district does not have the authority to suspend or expel students for committing any of these acts. 

 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned 
school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 

Note:  As an alternative to off-campus suspension, Education Code 48911.1 authorizes a supervised suspension 
classroom program for students who pose no imminent danger to anyone at school and who have not been 
recommended for expulsion, as specified below.  Education Code 48911.2 states that, if the number of students 
suspended during the prior year exceeds 30 percent of the school's enrollment, the district should consider 
implementing this program and/or another on-campus progressive discipline program. 
 
The following optional section is for use by districts implementing a supervised suspension classroom program. 
Such districts may continue to claim funding apportionments for students so assigned, provided they meet specific 
criteria which are set forth under "Supervised Suspension Classroom" in the accompanying administrative 
regulation.  A district does not receive funding for off-campus suspensions. 

 



4 
 

To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of 
the reasons enumerated in Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger 
or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion proceedings have not been initiated, the 
Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program which 
meets the requirements of law. 
 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised 
suspension shall be imposed only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper 
conduct.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
 
A student may be expelled only by the Board.  (Education Code 48918(j)) 
 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board 
shall expel any student found to have committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation 
and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds:  (Education 
Code 48915) 
 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated 

employee, unless the student had obtained prior written permission to possess the item from 
a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 

 
2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 

286, 288, 288a, or 289, or committing a sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 
 
6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  
Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion to recommend expulsion 
of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it 
makes a finding of either or both of the following:  (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about 

proper conduct 
 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing 

danger to the physical safety of the student or others 
 



5 
 

A vote to expel a student shall be taken in an open session of a Board meeting. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48917, the Board may decide to suspend the enforcement of an order for 
expulsion as long as a student satisfies specific conditions. See the accompanying administrative regulation for 
criteria. In addition, the Attorney General opined in 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 85 (1997) that the enforcement of an 
expulsion order may be suspended even in those cases where the student has committed an offense for which 
expulsion is required by law.  Legal counsel should be consulted as appropriate. 

 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the 
requirements of law and the accompanying administrative regulation.  (Education Code 48917) 
 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance.  (Education Code 48900) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that contract with the California Department of Education 
(CDE) to operate a California State Preschool Program. Education Code 8239.1, as added by AB 752 (Ch. 708, 
Statutes of 2017), prohibits the expulsion or disenrollment of a child in a preschool program unless the district has 
taken specified steps and the child's continued enrollment would present a serious safety threat to the child or other 
enrolled children. For further details regarding the steps the district must take prior to expelling a child, see BP 
5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 

 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as 
specified in AR 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or 
expulsion by affording them their due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee 
shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as specified in law and 
administrative regulation.  (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5, 48918) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1 require the district to maintain data related to suspensions and 
expulsions as provided below. Pursuant to Education Code 48916.1, the Superintendent of Public Instruction may 
require submission of such data as part of the Federal Program Monitoring process. In addition, 20 USC 7961 
requires districts to submit to the CDE a description of the circumstances surrounding any expulsions based on 
bringing or possessing a firearm on campus, including the name of the school, the number of students expelled, 
and the type of firearms involved. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually present to the Board a report of the maintain 
outcome data which the district is requiredrelated to collect pursuant tostudent suspensions and 
expulsions in accordance with Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, 
the number of students recommended for expulsion, the grounds for each recommended expulsion, 
the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the disposition 
of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a 
firearm, such data shall include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required 



6 
 

pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion data shall be reported to the Board annually 
and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 52060, districts are required to address school climate in the local control and 
accountability plan, as measured by student suspension and expulsion rates and other local measures for each 
school and each numerically significant student subgroup. As defined in Education Code 52052, numerically 
significant subgroups include ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, 
students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students, when there are at least 30 students in the subgroup 
or at least 15 foster youth or homeless students. 

 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on 
suspensions and expulsions by school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, 
but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, 
students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the Board shall 
address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine 
whether and how the district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its 
local control and accountability plan. 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
212.5  Sexual harassment 
233  Hate violence 
1981-1981.5  Enrollment of students in community school 
8239.1  Prohibition against expulsion of preschool student 
17292.5  Program for expelled students 
32261  Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985 
35145  Open board meetings 
35146  Closed sessions (regarding suspensions) 
35291  Rules (for government and discipline of schools) 
35291.5  Rules and procedures on school discipline 
48645.5  Readmission; contact with juvenile justice system 
48660-48666  Community day schools 
48853.5  Foster youth 
48900-48927  Suspension and expulsion 
48950  Speech and other communication 
48980  Parental notifications 
49073-49079  Privacy of student records 
52052  Numerically significant student subgroups 
52060-52077  Local control and accountability plan 
64000-64001  Consolidated application 
CIVIL CODE 
47  Privileged communication 
48.8  Defamation liability 
CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 
1985-1997  Subpoenas; means of production 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
11455.20  Contempt 
54950-54963  Ralph M. Brown Act 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
11014.5  Drug paraphernalia 



7 
 

11053-11058  Standards and schedules 
LABOR CODE 
230.7  Discharge or discrimination against employee for takingEmployee time off to appear in 
school on behalf of a child 
PENAL CODE 
31  Principal of a crime, defined 
240  Assault defined 
241.2  Assault fines 
242  Battery defined 
243.2  Battery on school property 
243.4  Sexual battery 
245  Assault with deadly weapon 
245.6  Hazing 
PENAL CODE (continued) 
245.6  Hazing 
261  Rape defined 
266c  Unlawful sexual intercourse 
286  Sodomy defined 
288  Lewd or lascivious acts with child under age 14 
288a  Oral copulation 
289  Penetration of genital or anal openings 
417.27  Laser pointers 
422.55  Hate crime defined 
422.6  Interference with exercise of civil rights 
422.7  Aggravating factors for punishment 
422.75  Enhanced penalties for hate crimes 
626.2  Entry upon campus after written notice of suspension or dismissal without permission 
626.9  Gun-Free School Zone Act of 1995 
626.10  Dirks, daggers, knives, razors, or stun guns 
868.5  Supporting person; attendance during testimony of witness 
WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 
729.6  Counseling 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 18 
921  Definitions, firearm 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1415(K)  Placement in alternative educational setting 
 7961  Gun-free schools 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
11432-11435  Education of homeless children and youths 
COURT DECISIONS 
T.H. v. San Diego Unified School District (2004) 122 Cal. App. 4th 1267 
Woodbury v. Dempsey (2003) 108 Cal. App. 4th 421 
Board of Education of Sacramento City Unified School District v. Sacramento County Board of Education 
and Kenneth H.  (2001) 85 Cal.App.4th 1321 
Fremont Union High School District v. Santa Clara County Board (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 118           
Garcia v. Los Angeles Board of Education (1991) 123 Cal. App. 3d 807 
John A. v. San Bernardino School District (1982) 33 Cal. 3d 301 
ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS 
84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 146 (2001) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 348 (1997) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 85 (1997) 

Management Resources: 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS PUBLICATIONS 
Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, January 2014 
WEB SITES 



8 
 

CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California Attorney General's Office:  http://www.oag.ca.gov 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights:  http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-
2012-data-summary.pdf 
U.S. Department of Education, Office of Safe and  Healthy Students:  
httpshttp://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oese/oshs 

 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 9, 2011 
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: June 18, 2014 
revised: March 10, 2015 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
**Updated CSBA version sent out 11/2/18** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students  
AR 5144.1 
 
SUSPENSION AND EXPULSION/DUE PROCESS 
 

Note:  CSBA recommends that this administrative regulation be approved by the Governing Board, regardless of 
district practice. 
 
Education Code 35291 requires the Board to adopt rules and regulations, which are not inconsistent with law or 
rules adopted by the State Board of Education, for the government and discipline of the schools under its 
jurisdiction. In addition, Education Code 48918 and 48918.5 mandate that districts adopt rules concerning the due 
process rights of students in expulsion situations, and Education Code 48916 mandates procedures for filing and 
processing requests for readmission. Specific language complying with these mandates is included throughout this 
administrative regulation. 
 
The acts for which students may be suspended or expelled are specified in law and in the sections below titled 
"Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: 
Grades 4-12." The Board does not have authority to add to those enumerated acts.  However, the Board has 
authority to prohibit suspension or expulsion for certain acts for which suspension or expulsion is permissible 
rather than mandatory.  The Board may consider limiting the use of suspension and expulsion for such offenses as 
part of the district plan to address school climate within the local control and accountability plan required pursuant 
to Education Code 52060.  In addition, pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, a district is not authorized to suspend 
a student for certain specified violations unless other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. 

 
Definitions 
 
Suspension means removal of a student from ongoing instruction for adjustment purposes.  
However, suspension does not mean any of the following:  (Education Code 48925) 
 
1. Reassignment to another education program or class at the same school where the student 

will receive continuing instruction for the length of day prescribed by the Governing Board 
of Education for students of the same grade level 

 
2. Referral to a certificated employee designated by the principal to advise students 
 
3. Removal from the class, but without reassignment to another class or program, for the 

remainder of the class period without sending the student to the principal or designee as 
provided in Education Code 48910 

 
Expulsion means removal of a student from the immediate supervision and control or the general 
supervision of school personnel.  (Education Code 48925) 
 
Notice of Regulations 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the principal of each school shall ensure that all students and 
parents/guardians are notified in writing of all school rules related to discipline, including 
suspension and expulsion.  (Education Code 35291, 48900.1, 48980) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline); (cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 



2 
 
Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12 
 
Acts for which a student, including a student with disabilities, may be suspended or expelled shall 
be only those specified as follows: 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
 
1. Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person; 

willfully used force or violence upon another person, except in self-defense; or committed 
as an aider or abettor, as adjudged by a juvenile court, a crime of physical violence in which 
the victim suffered great or serious bodily injury  (Education Code 48900(a) and (t)) 

 
Note: The Attorney General, in 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997), determined that a student may be expelled for 
"possession" of a firearm if the student knowingly and voluntarily had direct control over the firearm.  The only 
exceptions are when the student has permission from school officials to possess the firearm (pursuant to Education 
Code 48900 and 48915) or when the possession is brief and solely for the purpose of disposing of the firearm, such 
as handing it to school officials. Note that "firearm" does not include "imitation firearm" which is listed separately 
in item #12 below. See BP 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments. 
 
Pursuant to Penal Code 417.27, students are prohibited from possessing a laser pointer on school premises, except 
for a valid instructional or other school-related purpose.  See BP 5131 - Conduct. 

 
2. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous 

object, unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type, the student had obtained 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the 
principal or designee's concurrence  (Education Code 48900(b)) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 

 
3. Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, otherwise furnished, or was under the influence of any 

controlled substance as defined in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058, alcoholic 
beverage, or intoxicant of any kind  (Education Code 48900(c)) 
(cf. 3513.4 - Drug and Alcohol Free Schools) 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

 
4. Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance as defined in 

Health and Safety Code 11053-11058, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant of any kind, and 
then sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished to any person another liquid, substance, or 
material and represented same as such controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or 
intoxicant  (Education Code 48900(d)) 

 
5. Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion  (Education Code 48900(e)) 
 
6. Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property  (Education 

Code 48900(f)) 
 
7. Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property (Education Code 48900(g)) 
 
8. Possessed or used tobacco or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, including, 

but not limited to, cigars, cigarettes, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, 
snuff, chew packets, and betel, except that this restriction shall not prohibit a student from 
using or possessing his/her own prescription products  (Education Code 48900(h)) 
(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 



3 
 
 
9. Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity  (Education Code 

48900(i)) 
 
10. Unlawfully possessed, offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia, as 

defined in Health and Safety Code 11014.5  (Education Code 48900(j)) 
 
11. Knowingly received stolen school property or private property (Education Code 48900(l)) 
 
12. Possessed an imitation firearm  (Education Code 48900(m)) 
 
 Imitation firearm means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical 

properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica 
is a firearm.  (Education Code 48900(m)) 

 
13. Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 

286, 288, 288a, or 289, or committed a sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 
(Education Code 48900(n)) 

 
14. Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a student who is a complaining witness or witness in 

a school disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of preventing that student from being a 
witness and/or retaliating against that student for being a witness (Education Code 
48900(o)) 

 
15. Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma  

(Education Code 48900(p)) 
 
16. Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing  (Education Code 48900(q)) 
 
 Hazing means a method of initiation or pre-initiation into a student organization or body, 

whether or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational 
institution, which is likely to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or 
disgrace resulting in physical or mental harm to a former, current, or prospective student. 
Hazing does not include athletic events or school-sanctioned events.  (Education Code 
48900(q)) 

 
Note: Education Code 48900(r) defines "bullying" as "any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, 
including communications made in writing or by means of electronic act," which is directed toward a student and 
which would have serious detrimental consequences upon a reasonable student.  Pursuant to Education Code 
48900, a student may be disciplined for bullying by means of an electronic act even when the act originated off 
campus. See also BP 5131.2 - Bullying. 

 
17. Engaged in an act of bullying (Education Code 48900(r)) 
 

Bullying means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including 
communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, directed toward one or 
more students that has or can reasonably be predicted to have the effect of placing a 
reasonable student in fear of harm to himself/herself or his/her property; cause the student 
to experience a substantially detrimental effect on his/her physical or mental health; or 
cause the student to experience substantial interferences with his/her academic 



4 
 

performance or ability to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges 
provided by a school.  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
Note: "Bullying" also would include any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or 
intimidation committed by a student at any grade level, as set forth in Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 
48900.4, when the act results in harm to a reasonable student as specified in the above paragraph.  However, when 
bullying is found under these circumstances, students below grade 4 may be disciplined for the "bullying" but not 
for the underlying act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or intimidation as specified below 
in items #1-3 of "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12." 

 
Bullying includes any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or 
intimidation, as defined in Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 and below in 
items #1-3 of "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," that has 
any of the effects described above on a reasonable student. 

 
Bullying also includes an act of cyber sexual bullying by a student through the 
dissemination of, or the solicitation or incitement to disseminate, a photograph or other 
visual recording that depicts a nude, semi-nude, or sexually explicit photograph or other 
visual recording of an identifiable minor, when such dissemination is to another student or 
to school personnel by means of an electronic act and has or can be reasonably predicted 
to have one or more of the effects of bullying described above. Cyber sexual bullying does 
not include a depiction, portrayal, or image that has any serious literary, artistic, 
educational, political, or scientific value or that involves athletic events or school-
sanctioned activities. 
 
Electronic act means the creation or transmission originated on or off the school site by 
means of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless 
telephone, or other wireless communication device, computer, or pager, of a 
communication including, but not limited to:  (Education Code 48900(r)) 
 
a. A message, text, sound, video, or image 
 
b. A post on a social network Internet web site, including, but not limited to, posting 

to or creating a burn page or  creating a credible impersonation or false profile for 
the purpose of causing a reasonable student any of the effects of bullying described 
above. 

 
Reasonable student means a student, including, but not limited to, a student who has been 
identified as a student with a disability, who exercises average care, skill, and judgment in 
conduct for a person of his/her age, or for a person of his/her age with his/her disability.  
(Education Code 48900(r)) 
(cf. 1114 - District-Sponsored Social Media) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology) 
(cf. 6164.4 - Identification and Evaluation of Individuals for Special Education) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education under Section 504) 

 
Note:  Education Code 48900(t) allows for the suspension, but not expulsion, of a student who "aids or abets," as 
defined in Penal Code 31, the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury to another person.  The term 
"aiding or abetting," is a complex legal term and requires that, at the time he/she committed the crime, the aider or 
abettor was aware of the crime and specifically intended to commit the crime.  Because of the complexities of 
criminal law, legal counsel should be consulted as appropriate. 



5 
 

Pursuant to Education Code 48900(t), any student who aids or abets a crime of physical violence in which the 
victim suffered great bodily injury or serious bodily injury is subject to suspension or expulsion as provided in 
item #1 above. 

 
18. Aided or abetted the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury on another person, 

as defined in Penal Code 31  (Education Code 48900(t)) 
 
19. Made terrorist threats against school officials and/or school property  (Education Code 

48900.7) 
 

A terrorist threat includes any written or oral statement by a person who willfully threatens 
to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person or 
property damage in excess of $1,000, with the specific intent that the statement is to be 
taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out.  (Education Code 
48900.7) 

 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12 
 

Note:  The following section applies only to students in grades 4-12 and may be revised to reflect grade levels 
offered by the district. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900(k), except as otherwise provided in Education Code 48910, students in grades 
K-3 must not be suspended for disruption of school activities or willful defiance of school authority, and students 
in grades K-12 must not be expelled on these grounds. Since districts are authorized but not required to suspend 
students in grades 4-12 based on these grounds, a district may choose, consistent with Option 2 in the 
accompanying Board policy, to prohibit the use of these reasons for suspending its students.  Any district that 
chooses to do so should delete the following paragraph. 
 
None of the prohibitions or restrictions in Education Code 48900(k) affect a teacher's authority to remove a student 
from class for one day pursuant to Education Code 48910. 

 
Any student in grades 4-12 may be suspended, but not expelled, for disrupting school activities or 
otherwise willfully defying the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, other 
school officials, or other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.  (Education 
Code 48900(k)) 
(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances) 
 

Note:  As discussed in item #17 of "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" above, although 
Education Code 48900(r) defines bullying to include acts involving items #1-3 below, Education Code 48900.2-
48900.4 provide that only students in grades 4-12 may be suspended or expelled for the individual acts that 
constitute sexual harassment, hate violence, and harassment.  The interplay between "bullying" and items #1-3 can 
raise complex legal issues.  Districts should consult legal counsel as appropriate. 

 
A student in grades 4-12 shall be subject to suspension or recommendation for expulsion when it 
is determined that he/she: 
 
1. Committed sexual harassment as defined in Education Code 212.5  (Education Code 

48900.2) 
 

Sexual harassment means conduct which, when considered from the perspective of a 
reasonable person of the same gender as the victim, is sufficiently severe or pervasive as 
to have a negative impact upon the victim's academic performance or to create an 



6 
 

intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment.  (Education Code 212.5, 
48900.2) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 

 
2. Caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate violence 

as defined in Education Code 233  (Education Code 48900.3) 
 

Hate violence means any act punishable under Penal Code 422.6, 422.7, or 422.75.  Such 
acts include injuring or intimidating a victim, interfering with the exercise of a victim's 
civil rights, or damaging a victim's property because of the victim's race, ethnicity, religion, 
nationality, disability, gender, gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation; a 
perception of the presence of any of those characteristics in the victim; or the victim's 
association with a person or group with one or more of those actual or perceived 
characteristics.  (Education Code 233; Penal Code 422.55) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 

 
3. Intentionally engaged in harassment, threats, or intimidation against district personnel or 

students that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to have the actual and reasonably expected 
effect of materially disrupting classwork, creating substantial disorder, and invading the 
rights of school personnel or students by creating an intimidating or hostile educational 
environment  (Education Code 48900.4) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 

 
Suspension from Class by a Teacher 
 

Note:  The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. While Education Code 
48900(k) prohibits a district from suspending students in grades K-3 for disruption or willful defiance, it still 
allows for a teacher to suspend a K-3 student on these grounds. 

 
A teacher may suspend a student, including a grade K-3 student, from class for the remainder of 
the day and the following day for disruption, willful defiance, or any of the other acts specified in 
Education Code 48900 and listed as items #1-18 under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  
Grades K-12" above.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
When suspending a student from class, the teacher shall immediately report this action to the 
principal or designee and send the student to the principal or designee for appropriate action.  If 
that action requires the continuing presence of the student at school, he/she shall be appropriately 
supervised during the class periods from which he/she has been suspended.  (Education Code 
48910) 
 
As soon as possible after the teacher decides to suspend the student, he/she shall ask the student's 
parent/guardian to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension.  A counselor or 
psychologist may attend the conference if it is practicable, and a school administrator shall attend 
if either the parent/guardian or teacher so requests.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be returned to class during the period of the suspension 
without the approval of the teacher of the class and the principal or designee.  (Education Code 
48910) 
 



7 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be placed in another regular class during the period of 
suspension.  However, a student assigned to more than one class per day may continue to attend 
other regular classes except those held at the same time as the class from which he/she was 
suspended.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
The teacher of any class from which a student is suspended may require the student to complete 
any assignments and tests missed during the removal.  (Education Code 48913) 
 
Suspension by Superintendent, Principal or Principal's Designee 
 
To implement disciplinary procedures at a school site, the principal may, in writing, designate as 
the principal's designee another administrator or, if the principal is the only administrator at the 
school site, a certificated employee. As necessary, the principal may, in writing, also designate 
another administrator or certificated employee as the secondary designee to assist with disciplinary 
procedures when the principal and the principal's primary designee are absent from the school site. 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee shall immediately suspend any student found at school 
or at a school activity to have committed any of the acts listed in the Board policy under "Authority 
to Expel" and for which he/she is required to recommend expulsion.  (Education Code 48915(c)) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.5 limits situations warranting suspension for a first offense to when the violation 
involves Education Code 48900(a)-(e) or the student's presence causes a danger to persons. 

 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may impose a suspension for a first offense if he/she 
determines that the student violated any of items #1-5 listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades K-12" above or if the student's presence causes a danger to persons.  (Education 
Code 48900.5) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900 and 48915, except for certain egregious acts or offenses for which 
suspension is permissible or mandatory, as specified above pursuant to Education Code 48915(a) or (c), the 
Superintendent or principal is authorized to use his/her discretion to provide an alternative, age-appropriate 
disciplinary measure that is tailored to correct a student's specific misbehavior. In addition, the U.S. Department 
of Justice's Civil Rights Division (DOJ) and the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR), in 
their joint January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, 
recommend that effective alternatives to suspension and expulsion be implemented for correcting student 
misbehavior.  For a list of appropriate alternatives, see AR 5144 - Discipline. 

 
For all other offenses, a student may be suspended only when the Superintendent or principal has 
determined that other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  (Education 
Code 48900.5) 
 
When other means of correction are implemented prior to imposing suspension or supervised 
suspension upon a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee shall document the other 
means of correction used and retain the documentation in the student's record.  (Education Code 
48900.5) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
 
 
 
 



8 
 
Length of Suspension 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may suspend a student from school for not more than 
five consecutive school days.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
A student may be suspended from school for not more than 20 school days in any school year.  
However, if a student enrolls in or is transferred to another regular school, an opportunity school, 
or continuation school or class for the purpose of adjustment, he/she may be suspended for not 
more than 30 school days in a school year.  The district may count suspensions that occur while a 
student is enrolled in another school district toward the maximum number of days for which the 
student may be suspended in any school year.  (Education Code 48903, 48911, 48912) 
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
 
These restrictions on the number of days of suspension shall not apply when the suspension is 
extended pending an expulsion.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
Due Process Procedures for Suspension 
 
Suspensions shall be imposed in accordance with the following procedures: 
 
1. Informal Conference:  Suspension shall be preceded by an informal conference conducted 

by the Superintendent, principal, or designee with the student and, whenever practicable, 
the teacher, supervisor, or school employee who referred the student to the principal. At 
the conference, the student shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary action, 
including the other means of correction that were attempted before the suspension as 
required pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, and the  evidence against him/her, and shall 
be given the opportunity to present his/her version and evidence in support of his/her 
defense.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
This conference may be omitted if the Superintendent, principal, or designee determines 
that an emergency situation exists involving a clear and present danger to the lives, safety, 
or health of students or school personnel. If a student is suspended without this conference, 
both the parent/guardian and student shall be notified of the student's right to return to 
school for the purpose of the conference and the conference shall be held within two school 
days, unless the student waives his/her right to it or is physically unable to attend for any 
reason. In such a case, the conference shall be held as soon as the student is physically able 
to return to school.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
Note:  Item #2 below should be revised to reflect the district's processing and reporting procedures. 

 
2. Administrative Actions:  All requests for student suspension are to be processed by the 

principal or designee. A school employee shall report the suspension, including the name 
of the student and the cause for the suspension, to the Superintendent or designee.  
(Education Code 48911) 

 
3. Notice to Parents/Guardians:  At the time of the suspension, a school employee shall 

make a reasonable effort to contact the parent/guardian by telephone or in person. 
Whenever a student is suspended, the parent/guardian shall also be notified in writing of 
the suspension.  (Education Code 48911) 

 



9 
 
 This notice shall state the specific offense committed by the student.  (Education Code 

48900.8) 
 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
 In addition, the notice may state the date and time when the student may return to school. 
 
4. Parent/Guardian Conference:  Whenever a student is suspended, school officials may 

request a meeting with the parent/guardian to discuss the cause(s) and duration of the 
suspension, the school policy involved, and any other pertinent matter.  (Education Code 
48914) 

 
 If school officials request to meet with the parent/guardian, the notice may state that the 

law requires the parent/guardian to respond to such requests without delay. However, no 
penalties may be imposed on the student for the failure of the parent/guardian to attend 
such a conference. The student may not be denied reinstatement solely because the 
parent/guardian failed to attend the conference.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
5. Extension of Suspension:  If the Board is considering the expulsion of a suspended student 

from any school or the suspension of a student for the balance of the semester from 
continuation school, the Superintendent or designee may, in writing, extend the suspension 
until such time as the Board has made a decision, provided the following requirements are 
followed:  (Education Code 48911) 
 
a. The extension of the original period of suspension is preceded by notice of such 

extension with an offer to hold a conference concerning the extension, giving the 
student an opportunity to be heard. This conference may be held in conjunction 
with a meeting requested by the student or parent/guardian to challenge the original 
suspension. 

 
b. The Superintendent or designee determines, following a meeting in which the 

student and the student's parent/guardian were invited to participate, that the 
student's presence at the school or at an alternative school would endanger persons 
or property or threaten to disrupt the instructional process.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
Note:  When the student being considered for expulsion is a foster youth, Education Code 48911 and 48918.1 
require the district to invite the student's attorney and an appropriate county child welfare agency representative 
to the meeting specified above. See the section below titled "Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster 
Youth and Homeless Students." To ensure such invitation, the following paragraph provides that the district liaison 
for foster youth be notified. However, any district that has designated another position to carry out this 
responsibility may modify the paragraph to specify that position. For designation of the liaison for foster youth, 
see AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth. 

 
c. If the student involved is a foster youth, the Superintendent or designee shall notify 

the district liaison for foster youth of the need to invite the student's attorney and a 
representative of the appropriate county child welfare agency to attend the meeting.  
(Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48918.1) 
(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth) 

 



10 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district's liaison for homeless students must be notified when the 
student being considered for expulsion is a homeless student.  See the section below titled "Additional Notice of 
Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and Homeless Students." 

 
d. If the student involved is a homeless child or youth, the Superintendent or designee 

shall notify the district liaison for homeless students.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
(cf. 6173 - Education for Homeless Children) 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Since Education Code 48900 
and 48900.5 require a district, under certain circumstances, to use alternative disciplinary measures prior to 
imposing suspension, including supervised suspension, the district may, as necessary, provide services that would 
address the student's specific misbehavior along with the suspension program. For example, the district may 
require the student to enroll in a program that teaches prosocial behavior or anger management even while the 
student is suspended. 

 
In lieu of or in addition to suspending a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee may 
provide services or require the student to participate in an alternative disciplinary program 
designed to correct his/her behavior and keep him/her in school. 
 
Suspension by the Board 
 

Note:  The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to suspend students from school pursuant to 
Education Code 48912. In practice, it is impractical for boards to directly exercise this authority since 
circumstances warranting suspension usually require quick and sometimes immediate action which may not be 
possible for a board due to legal requirements for taking board actions, such as having a meeting. 

 
The Board may suspend a student for any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12" 
above and within the limits specified under "Suspension by Superintendent, Principal, or 
Designee" above.  (Education Code 48912) 
 
The Board may suspend a student enrolled in a continuation school or class for a period not longer 
than the remainder of the semester. The suspension shall meet the requirements of Education Code 
48915.  (Education Code 48912.5) 
 
When the Board is considering a suspension, disciplinary action, or any other action (except 
expulsion) against any student, it shall hold a closed session if a public hearing would lead to 
disclosure of information violatingthat would violate a student's right to privacy under Education 
Code 49073-49079.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
(cf. 9321 - Closed Session Purposes and Agendas) 
 
The Board shall provide the student and his/her parent/guardian with written notice of the closed 
session by registered or certified mail or personal service. Upon receiving this notice, the student 
or parent/guardian may request a public meeting, and this request shall be granted if made in 
writing within 48 hours after receipt of the Board's notice. However, any discussion that conflicts 
with any other student's right to privacy still shall be held in closed session.  (Education Code 
35146, 48912) 
 
 
 
 



11 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 

Note: The following optional section is for use by any district establishing an on-campus suspension program 
pursuant to Education Code 48911.1. However, pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, such a district is required to 
use other means of correcting a student's behavior before imposing a supervised suspension, unless such a 
supervised suspension is otherwise permitted by law for a student's first offense. Use of a supervised suspension 
classroom program does not in any way limit the district's ability to transfer a student to an opportunity school or 
class or a continuation education school or class in accordance with law. 

 
A student for whom an expulsion action has not been initiated and who poses no imminent danger 
or threat to the school, students, or staff may be assigned to on-campus suspension in a separate 
classroom, building, or site for the entire period of suspension. The following conditions shall 
apply:  (Education Code 48911.1) 
 
1. The on-campus suspension classroom shall be staffed in accordance with law. 
 
2. The student shall have access to appropriate counseling services. 
 
3. The on-campus suspension classroom shall promote completion of schoolwork and tests 

missed by the student during the suspension. 
 
4. The student shall be responsible for contacting his/her teacher(s) to receive assignments to 

be completed in the supervised suspension classroom. The teacher(s) shall provide all 
assignments and tests that the student will miss while suspended. If no such work is 
assigned, the person supervising the suspension classroom shall assign schoolwork. 

 
At the time a student is assigned to an on-campus suspension classroom, the principal or designee 
shall notify the student's parent/guardian in person or by telephone. When the assignment is for 
longer than one class period, this notification may be made in writing.  (Education Code 48911.1) 
 
Superintendent or Principal's Authority to Recommend Expulsion 
 
Unless the Superintendent or principal determines that expulsion should not be recommended 
under the circumstances or that an alternative means of correction would address the conduct, 
he/she shall recommend a student's expulsion for any of the following acts:  (Education Code 
48915) 
 
1. Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense 
 
2. Possession of any knife or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the student 
 
3. Unlawful possession of any controlled substance as listed in Health and Safety Code 

11053-11058, except for (a) the first offense for the possession of not more than one ounce 
of marijuana, other than concentrated cannabis, or (b) the student's possession of over-the-
counter medication for his/her use or other medication prescribed for him/her by a 
physician 

 
4. Robbery or extortion 
 
5. Assault or battery, as defined in Penal Code 240 and 242, upon any school employee 



12 
 
 
In determining whether or not to recommend the expulsion of a student, the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee shall act as quickly as possible to ensure that the student does not lose 
instructional time.  (Education Code 48915) 
 
Student's Right to Expulsion Hearing 
 

Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board establish rules and regulations governing procedures for 
the expulsion of students.  The timelines of Education Code 48918 must be strictly followed; failure to do so may 
result in loss of the district's power to act (Garcia v. Los Angeles Board of Education).  In calculating timelines, 
the district should also be aware of the difference between the calculation of "school days" and "calendar days" 
under Education Code 48918. 

 
Any student recommended for expulsion shall be entitled to a hearing to determine whether he/she 
should be expelled. The hearing shall be held within 30 school days after the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee determines that the student has committed the act(s) that form the basis for 
the expulsion recommendation.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
The student is entitled to at least one postponement of an expulsion hearing for a period of not 
more than 30 calendar days. The request for postponement shall be in writing. Any subsequent 
postponement may be granted at the Board's discretion.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical during the regular school year to comply with these time 
requirements for conducting an expulsion hearing, the Superintendent or designee may, for good 
cause, extend the time period by an additional five school days. Reasons for the extension shall be 
included as a part of the record when the expulsion hearing is held.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical to comply with the time requirements of the expulsion hearing due 
to a summer recess of Board meetings of more than two weeks, the days during the recess shall 
not be counted as school days. The days not counted during the recess may not exceed 20 school 
days, as defined in Education Code 48925. Unless the student requests in writing that the expulsion 
hearing be postponed, the hearing shall be held not later than 20 calendar days prior to the first day 
of the next school year.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Once the hearing starts, all matters shall be pursued with reasonable diligence and concluded 
without unnecessary delay.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Stipulated Expulsion 
 

Note: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. "Stipulated expulsion" is 
for districts that have adopted an expedited procedure which allows a student to waive his/her right to a pre-
expulsion hearing in exchange for an agreement as to the terms of the expulsion. Such waivers are not specifically 
addressed in law and districts should ensure that the due process rights of students are included in the stipulated 
agreement and are clearly explained to them before the agreement is signed. Districts should consult legal counsel 
as appropriate. 

 
After a determination that a student has committed an expellable offense, the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee shall offer the student and his/her parent/guardian the option to waive a 
hearing and stipulate to the expulsion or to a suspension of the expulsion under certain conditions.  
The offer shall be made only after the student or his/her parent/guardian has been given written 
notice of the expulsion hearing pursuant to Education Code 48918. 



13 
 
 
The stipulation agreement shall be in writing and shall be signed by the student and his/her 
parent/guardian.  The stipulation agreement shall include notice of all the rights that the student is 
waiving, including the waiving of his/her right to have a full hearing, to appeal the expulsion to 
the County Board of Education, and to consult legal counsel. 
 
A stipulated expulsion agreed to by the student and his/her parent/guardian shall be effective upon 
approval by the Board. 
 
Rights of Complaining Witness 
 

Note:  Education Code 48918.5 mandates the following rights related to the treatment of witnesses alleging acts 
of sexual assault or sexual battery.  Other procedures related to complaining witnesses also may be added as desired 
by the district.  Additional mandated procedures related to the rights and treatment of complaining witnesses are 
included where appropriate throughout this regulation. 

 
An expulsion hearing involving allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery may be postponed 
for one school day in order to accommodate the special physical, mental, or emotional needs of a 
student who is the complaining witness.  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
Whenever the Superintendent or designee recommends an expulsion hearing that addresses 
allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery, he/she shall give the complaining witness a copy of 
the district's suspension and expulsion policy and regulation and shall advise the witness of his/her 
right to:  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
1. Receive five days' notice of his/her scheduled testimony at the hearing 
 
2. Have up to two adult support persons of his/her choosing present at the hearing at the time 

he/she testifies 
 
3. Have a closed hearing during the time he/she testifies 
 
Whenever any allegation of sexual assault or sexual battery is made, the Superintendent or 
designee shall immediately advise complaining witnesses and accused students to refrain from 
personal or telephone contact with each other during the time when an expulsion process is 
pending.  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
Written Notice of the Expulsion Hearing 
 

Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates the Board to adopt procedures that include the following items. 
 
Written notice of the expulsion hearing shall be forwarded to the student and the student's 
parent/guardian at least 10 calendar days before the date of the hearing. The notice shall include:  
(Education Code 48900.8, 48918(b)) 
 
1. The date and place of the hearing 
 
2. A statement of the specific facts, charges, and offense upon which the proposed expulsion 

is based 
 



14 
 
3. A copy of district disciplinary rules which relate to the alleged violation 
 
4. Notification of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation, pursuant to Education Code 

48915.1, to provide information about the student's status in the district to any other district 
in which the student seeks enrollment 

 
 This obligation applies when a student is expelled for acts other than those described in 

Education Code 48915(a) or (c). 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 

 
5. The opportunity for the student or the student's parent/guardian to appear in person or be 

represented by legal counsel or by a nonattorney adviser 
 
 Legal counsel means an attorney or lawyer who is admitted to the practice of law in 

California and is an active member of the State Bar of California. 
 
 Nonattorney adviser means an individual who is not an attorney or lawyer, but who is 

familiar with the facts of the case and has been selected by the student or student's 
parent/guardian to provide assistance at the hearing. 

 
6. The right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the hearing 
 
7. The opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify at the hearing 
 
8. The opportunity to question all evidence presented and to present oral and documentary 

evidence on the student's behalf, including witnesses 
 
Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and Homeless Students 
 

Note: Prior to conducting an expulsion hearing to determine whether a foster youth should be expelled, Education 
Code 48918.1 requires the district to notify the student's attorney and a representative of an appropriate county 
child welfare agency, provided that the violation does not require a mandatory recommendation for expulsion. 
Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, such additional notice must be given to the district liaison for homeless 
students when the student involved is a homeless child or youth and the violation does not require a mandatory 
recommendation for expulsion. While such a notice is not required if the offense requires a mandatory 
recommendation for expulsion, it is nonetheless recommended and the following section reflects this 
recommendation. 

 
If the student facing expulsion is a foster student, the Superintendent or designee shall also send 
notice of the hearing to the student's attorney and a representative of an appropriate child welfare 
agency at least 10 days prior to the hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
If the student facing expulsion is a homeless student, the Superintendent or designee shall also 
send notice of the hearing to the district liaison for homeless students at least 10 days prior to the 
hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
Any notice for these purposes may be provided by the most cost-effective method possible, 
including by email or a telephone call.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
 
 



15 
 
Conduct of Expulsion Hearing 
 

Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following items. 
 
Instead of the Board conducting an expulsion hearing, it may appoint a hearing officer or an impartial 
administrative panel to conduct the hearing; see section "Alternative Expulsion Hearing: Hearing Officer or 
Administrative Panel" below. Even if the district conducts all expulsion hearings in this manner, the requirements 
of Education Code 48918 pertaining to the conduct of the hearing must be met. 

 
1. Closed Session:  Notwithstanding Education Code 35145, the Board shall conduct a 

hearing to consider the expulsion of the student in a session closed to the public unless the 
student requests in writing at least five days prior to the hearing that the hearing be a public 
meeting. If such a request is made, the meeting shall be public to the extent that privacy 
rights of other students are not violated.  (Education Code 48918) 

 
Note:  For the purpose of Board deliberations during the closed session described below, the presence of any 
person other than the Board members, including the Superintendent, necessitates allowing the presence of the 
parent/guardian, student, and student's counsel. 

 
 Whether the expulsion hearing is held in closed or public session, the Board may meet in 

closed session to deliberate and determine whether or not the student should be expelled. 
If the Board admits any other person to this closed session, the parent/guardian, the student, 
and the counsel of the student also shall be allowed to attend the closed session.  (Education 
Code 48918(c)) 

 
 If a hearing that involves a charge of sexual assault or sexual battery is to be conducted in 

public, a complaining witness shall have the right to have his/her testimony heard in closed 
session when testifying in public would threaten serious psychological harm to the witness 
and when there are no alternative procedures to avoid the threatened harm, including, but 
not limited to, a videotaped deposition or contemporaneous examination in another place 
communicated to the hearing room by closed-circuit television.  (Education Code 
48918(c)) 

 
2. Record of Hearing:  A record of the hearing shall be made and may be maintained by any 

means, including electronic recording, as long as a reasonably accurate and complete 
written transcription of the proceedings can be made.  (Education Code 48918(g)) 

 
Note: Education Code 48918 authorizes the Board to issue subpoenas for the personal appearance of percipient 
witnesses at an expulsion hearing. In Woodbury v. Dempsey, the court held that a district's authority to determine 
whether to issue subpoenas is discretionary, but a district could not have a blanket policy denying the issuance of 
subpoenas in all cases. 
 
In accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 1987, the subpoena must be served at least 10 days before the time 
required for attendance unless the court prescribes a shorter time. Unless they are parties to the hearing or are 
district or government employees, witnesses who appear pursuant to a subpoena receive fees equal to those 
prescribed for witnesses in civil actions in a superior court, and all witnesses other than the parties to the hearing 
receive mileage; these fees and mileage must be paid by the party requesting the subpoena. 

 
3. Subpoenas:  Before commencing a student expulsion hearing, the Board may issue 

subpoenas, at the request of either the student or the Superintendent or designee, for the 
personal appearance at the hearing of any person who actually witnessed the action that 
gave rise to the recommendation for expulsion. After the hearing has commenced, the 



16 
 

Board or the hearing officer or administrative panel may issue such subpoenas at the 
request of the student or the County Superintendent of Schools or designee. All subpoenas 
shall be issued in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 1985-1985.2 and enforced in 
accordance with Government Code 11455.20.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 

 
 Any objection raised by the student or the Superintendent or designee to the issuance of 

subpoenas may be considered by the Board in closed session, or in open session if so 
requested by the student, before the meeting. The Board's decision in response to such an 
objection shall be final and binding.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 

 
 If the Board determines, or if the hearing officer or administrative panel finds and submits 

to the Board, that a witness would be subject to unreasonable risk of harm by testifying at 
the hearing, a subpoena shall not be issued to compel the personal attendance of that 
witness at the hearing. However, that witness may be compelled to testify by means of a 
sworn declaration as described in item #4 below.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 

 
4. Presentation of Evidence:  Technical rules of evidence shall not apply to the expulsion 

hearing, but relevant evidence may be admitted and used as proof only if it is the kind of 
evidence on which reasonable persons can rely in the conduct of serious affairs.  The 
decision of the Board to expel shall be supported by substantial evidence that the student 
committed any of the acts pursuant to Education Code 48900 and listed in "Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades 4-12" above.  (Education Code 48918(h)) 

 
Note: Findings of fact made by the Board or a hearing panel must not be based on hearsay alone. "Hearsay" is 
evidence of an oral or written statement made by a person who is not present at the hearing which is offered to 
establish a fact as being true. Some exceptions to the hearsay rule exist under the Evidence Code and Education 
Code; the district should consult legal counsel as appropriate. 

 
 Findings of fact shall be based solely on the evidence at the hearing. Although no finding 

shall be based solely on hearsay, sworn declarations may be admitted as testimony from 
witnesses whose disclosure of their identity or testimony at the hearing may subject them 
to an unreasonable risk of physical or psychological harm.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 

 In cases where a search of a student's person or property has occurred, evidence describing 
the reasonableness of the search shall be included in the hearing record. 

 
Note: Education Code 48918.6 provides that testimony by a student witness at an expulsion hearing is privileged 
and thus protected from liability for defamation pursuant to Civil Code 47(b). 

 
5. Testimony by Complaining Witnesses:  The following procedures shall be observed 

when a hearing involves allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery by a student:  
(Education Code 48918, 48918.5) 
 
a. Any complaining witness shall be given five days' notice before being called to 

testify. 
 

b. Any complaining witness shall be entitled to have up to two adult support persons, 
including, but not limited to, a parent/guardian or legal counsel, present during 
his/her testimony. 



17 
 

 
c. Before a complaining witness testifies, support persons shall be admonished that 

the hearing is confidential. 
 
d. The person presiding over the hearing may remove a support person whom he/she 

finds is disrupting the hearing. 
 
e. If one or both support persons are also witnesses, the hearing shall be conducted in 

accordance with Penal Code 868.5. 
 
f. Evidence of specific instances of prior sexual conduct of a complaining witness 

shall be presumed inadmissible and shall not be heard unless the person conducting 
the hearing determines that extraordinary circumstances require the evidence to be 
heard. Before such a determination is made, the complaining witness shall be given 
notice and an opportunity to oppose the introduction of this evidence. In the hearing 
on the admissibility of this evidence, the complaining witness shall be entitled to 
be represented by a parent/guardian, legal counsel, or other support person. 
Reputation or opinion evidence regarding the sexual behavior of a complaining 
witness shall not be admissible for any purpose. 

 
g. In order to facilitate a free and accurate statement of the experiences of the 

complaining witness and to prevent discouragement of complaints, the district shall 
provide a nonthreatening environment. 
 
(1) The district shall provide a room separate from the hearing room for the use 

of the complaining witness before and during breaks in testimony. 
 
(2) At the discretion of the person conducting the hearing, the complaining 

witness shall be allowed reasonable periods of relief from examination and 
cross-examination during which he/she may leave the hearing room. 

 
(3) The person conducting the hearing may: 
 

(a) Arrange the seating within the hearing room so as to facilitate a less 
intimidating environment for the complaining witness 

 
(b) Limit the time for taking the testimony of a complaining witness to 

the hours he/she is normally in school, if there is no good cause to 
take the testimony during other hours 

 
(c) Permit one of the support persons to accompany the complaining 

witness to the witness stand 
 
6. Decision:  The Board's decision as to whether to expel a student shall be made within 40 

school days after the student is removed from his/her school of attendance, unless the 
student requests in writing that the decision be postponed.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 

 
 
 
 



18 
 
Alternative Expulsion Hearing:  Hearing Officer or Administrative Panel 
 

Note:  For districts that use a hearing officer or administrative panel, Education Code 48918 mandates that the 
Board adopt procedures that include the following section. 

 
Instead of conducting an expulsion hearing itself, the Board may contract with the county hearing 
officer or with the Office of Administrative Hearings of the State of California for a hearing officer. 
The Board may also appoint an impartial administrative panel composed of three or more 
certificated personnel, none of whom shall be members of the Board or on the staff of the school 
in which the student is enrolled.  (Education Code 48918) 
 
A hearing conducted by the hearing officer or administrative panel shall conform to the same 
procedures applicable to a hearing conducted by the Board as specified above in "Conduct of 
Expulsion Hearing," including the requirement to issue a decision within 40 school days of the 
student's removal from school, unless the student requests that the decision be postponed.  
(Education Code 48918(a) and (d)) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48918, if the hearing officer or administrative panel does not recommend 
expulsion, a student must be permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from which the expulsion 
referral was made, unless the student's parent/guardian requests a different placement.  Education Code 48918 also 
states that a student who is found to have committed any of the violations listed in "Authority to Expel" in the 
accompanying Board policy but for whom expulsion is not recommended may be referred to his/her prior school.  
However, the hearing officer or administrative panel, like the Board, must recommend expulsion or a suspended 
expulsion under Education Code 48915, if it finds that a student committed any such violation that mandates 
expulsion.  District should consult legal counsel to resolve this apparent discrepancy. 

 
The hearing officer or administrative panel shall, within three school days after the hearing, 
determine whether to recommend expulsion of the student to the Board. If expulsion is not 
recommended, the expulsion proceeding shall be terminated and the student shall be immediately 
reinstated and permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from which the referral 
was made, unless another placement is requested in writing by the student's parent/guardian.  
Before the student's placement decision is made by his/her parent/guardian, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consult with the parent/guardian and district staff, including the student's teachers, 
regarding other placement options for the student in addition to the option to return to the 
classroom instructional program from which the student's expulsion referral was made. The 
decision to not recommend expulsion shall be final.  (Education Code 48918(e)) 
 
If expulsion is recommended, findings of fact in support of the recommendation shall be prepared 
and submitted to the Board. All findings of fact and recommendations shall be based solely on the 
evidence presented at the hearing. The Board may accept the recommendation based either upon 
a review of the findings of fact and recommendations submitted or upon the results of any 
supplementary hearing the Board may order.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 
In accordance with Board policy, the hearing officer or administrative panel may recommend that 
the Board suspend the enforcement of the expulsion. If the hearing officer or administrative panel 
recommends that the Board expel a student but suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the 
student shall not be reinstated and permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from 
which the referral was made until the Board has ruled on the recommendation.  (Education Code 
48917, 48918) 
 
 



19 
 
Final Action by the Board 
 

Note: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following paragraph. 
 
Whether the expulsion hearing is conducted in closed or open session by the Board, a hearing 
officer, or an administrative panel or is waived through the signing of a stipulated expulsion 
agreement, the final action to expel shall be taken by the Board in public.  (Education Code 
48918(j)) 
(cf. 9321.1 - Closed Session Actions and Reports) 
 
The Board's decision is final. If the decision is to not expel, the student shall be reinstated 
immediately.  If the decision is to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the student shall be 
reinstated under the conditions of the suspended expulsion. 
 

Note:  20 USC 7961 requires the district, in the consolidated application for federal funding, to provide an 
assurance that it will comply with the state requirement to expel, for a period not less than one year, any student 
who brings a firearm to school or possesses a firearm at school. 

 
Upon ordering an expulsion, the Board shall set a date when the student shall be reviewed for 
readmission to a school within the district. For a student expelled for any "mandatory 
recommendation and mandatory expulsion" act listed under "Mandatory Recommendation and 
Mandatory Expulsion" abovein the section "Authority to Expel" in the accompanying Board 
policy, this date shall be one year from the date the expulsion occurred, except that the Board may 
set an earlier date on a case-by-case basis.  For a student expelled for other acts, this date shall be 
no later than the last day of the semester following the semester in which the expulsion occurred. 
If an expulsion is ordered during summer session or the intersession period of a year-round 
program, the Board shall set a date when the student shall be reviewed for readmission not later 
than the last day of the semester following the summer session or intersession period in which the 
expulsion occurred.  (EdEducation Code 48916) 
 
At the time of the expulsion order, the Board shall recommend a plan for the student's 
rehabilitation, which may include:  (Education Code 48916) 
 
1. Periodic review, as well as assessment at the time of review, for readmission 
 
2. Recommendations for improved academic performance, tutoring, special education 

assessments, job training, counseling, employment, community service, or other 
rehabilitative programs 

 
Note:  The following paragraph is optional.  Education Code 48916.5 authorizes, but does not mandate, the Board 
to make the following requirement of certain expelled students. 

 
With parent/guardian consent, students who have been expelled for reasons relating to controlled 
substances or alcohol may be required to enroll in a county-sponsored drug rehabilitation program 
before returning to school.  (Education Code 48916.5) 
 
Written Notice to Expel 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of the decision to expel to the student or 
parent/guardian.  This notice shall include the following: 



20 
 
 
1. The specific offense committed by the student for any of the causes for suspension or 

expulsion listed above under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" or 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12"  (Education Code 
48900.8) 

 
2. The fact that a description of readmission procedures will be made available to the student 

and his/her parent/guardian  (Education Code 48916) 
 
3. Notice of the right to appeal the expulsion to the County Board  (Education Code 48918) 
 
4. Notice of the alternative educational placement to be provided to the student during the 

time of expulsion  (Education Code 48918) 
 
5. Notice of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to inform any new district in which 

the student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the expelling district, pursuant to 
Education Code 48915.1  (Education Code 48918) 

 
Decision to Suspend Expulsion Order 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48917, the Board's criteria for suspending the enforcement of expulsions must 
be applied uniformly to all students. Items #1-3 below are optional and should be revised to reflect district criteria. 

 
In accordance with Board policy, when deciding whether to suspend the enforcement of an 
expulsion order, the Board shall take into account the following criteria: 
 
1. The student's pattern of behavior 
 
2. The seriousness of the misconduct 
 
3. The student's attitude toward the misconduct and his/her willingness to follow a 

rehabilitation program 
 
The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion shall be governed by the following: 
 
1. The Board may, as a condition of the suspension of enforcement, assign the student to a 

school, class, or program appropriate for the student's rehabilitation. This rehabilitation 
program may provide for the involvement of the student's parent/guardian in the student's 
education. However, a parent/guardian's refusal to participate in the rehabilitation program 
shall not be considered in the Board's determination as to whether the student has 
satisfactorily completed the rehabilitation program.  (Education Code 48917) 

 
2. During the period when enforcement of the expulsion order is suspended, the student shall 

be on probationary status.  (Education Code 48917) 
 
3. The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order may be revoked by the Board if 

the student commits any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  
Grades K-12" or "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12" above 
or violates any of the district's rules and regulations governing student conduct.  (Education 
Code 48917) 



21 
 
 
4. When the suspension of enforcement of an expulsion order is revoked, a student may be 

expelled under the terms of the original expulsion order.  (Education Code 48917) 
 
5. Upon satisfactory completion of the rehabilitation assignment, the Board shall reinstate the 

student in a district school.  Upon reinstatement, the Board may order the expunging of any 
or all records of the expulsion proceedings.  (Education Code 48917) 

 
6. The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of any decision to suspend the 

enforcement of an expulsion order during a period of probation to the student or 
parent/guardian. The notice shall inform the parent/guardian of the right to appeal the 
expulsion to the County Board, the alternative educational placement to be provided to the 
student during the period of expulsion, and the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to 
inform any new district in which the student seeks to enroll of his/her status with the 
expelling district, pursuant to Education Code 48915.1(b).  (Education Code 48918(j)) 

 
7. Suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order shall not affect the time period and 

requirements for the filing of an appeal of the expulsion order with the County Board.  
(Education Code 48917) 

 
Appeal 
 
The student or parent/guardian is entitled to file an appeal of the Board's decision with the County 
Board.  The appeal must be filed within 30 days of the Board's decision to expel, even if the 
expulsion order is suspended and the student is placed on probation.  (Education Code 48919) 
 
If the student submits a written request for a copy of the written transcripts and supporting 
documents from the district simultaneously with the filing of the notice of appeal with the County 
Board, the district shall provide the student with these documents within 10 school days following 
the student's written request.  (Education Code 48919) 
 
Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities 
 

Note:  Education Code 48902 requires the principal or designee to notify law enforcement authorities when a 
student possesses a firearm or explosive or sells or furnishes a firearm at school.  However, when the student 
involved in such a case is a student with a disability, Education Code 49076 requires any law enforcement authority 
to which student information is disclosed to certify that those records will not be disclosed to another party without 
the prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian or other person invested with the student's educational 
right; see AR 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities). 
 
When submitting the consolidated application for federal funding, the district must provide assurance that it has 
adopted a policy requiring referral to the criminal justice system or juvenile delinquency system of any student 
who brings a firearm or weapon to a school. The following section fulfills this requirement. 

 
Prior to the suspension or expulsion of any student, the principal or designee shall notify 
appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities of any student acts of assault which may 
have violated Penal Code 245.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
The principal or designee also shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities 
of any student acts which may involve the possession or sale of narcotics or of a controlled 
substance. In addition, law enforcement authorities shall be notified regarding any acts by students 



22 
 
regarding, or of any student acts involving the possession, sale, or furnishing of firearms, 
explosives, or other dangerous weapons in violation of Education Code 48915(c)(1) or (5) or Penal 
Code 626.9 and 626.10.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
Within one school day after a student's suspension or expulsion, the principal or designee shall 
notify appropriate city or county or district law enforcement authorities, by telephone or other 
appropriate means, of any student acts which may violate Education Code 48900(c) or (d), relating 
to the possession, use, offering, or sale of controlled substances, alcohol, or intoxicants of any 
kind.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
Placement During Expulsion 
 

Note:  Education Code 48915 requires the Board to refer all expelled students to a program of study that is prepared 
to accommodate students with discipline problems and that is not located at the school the student currently attends 
or at any regular elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school. However, students expelled for the acts 
described in Education Code 48900(f) through (m) or Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 may be 
referred to a program of study that is at another elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school if the County 
Superintendent of Schools certifies that an alternative program is not available at a site away from such a school. 
 
Education Code 48915.01 states that if the Board has established a community day school pursuant to Education 
Code 48661 on the same site as an elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school, expelled students may be 
referred to the community day school at that site.  Although Education Code 48663 prohibits the use of independent 
study in community day schools, Education Code 48916.1 does not in any way restrict the district from offering 
independent study as a voluntary alternative placement option for expelled students. 

 
The Board shall refer expelled students to a program of study that is:  (Education Code 48915, 
48915.01) 
 
1. Appropriately prepared to accommodate students who exhibit discipline problems 
 
2. Not provided at a comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at any elementary 

school, unless the program is offered at a community day school established at any of these 
 
3. Not housed at the school site attended by the student at the time of suspension 

(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6185 - Community Day School) 

 
When the placement described above is not available and when the County Superintendent so 
certifies, students expelled for only acts described in items #6-12 under "Grounds for Suspension 
and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and items #1-3 under "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades 4-12" above may be referred to a program of study that is provided at another 
comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at an elementary school.  (Education Code 
48915) 
 
The program for a student expelled from any of grades K-6 shall not be combined or merged with 
programs offered to students in any of grades 7-12.  (Education Code 48916.1) 
 
 
 
 
 
 



23 
 
Readmission After Expulsion 
 

Note:  Education Code 48916 mandates that the Board adopt rules and regulations establishing a procedure for 
filing and processing requests for readmission and a process for Board review of all expelled students for 
readmission.  Items #1-2 below should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Prior to the date set by the Board for the student's readmission: 
 
1. The Superintendent or designee shall hold a conference with the parent/guardian and the 

student. At the conference, the student's rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed and the 
Superintendent or designee shall verify that the provisions of this plan have been met.  
School regulations shall be reviewed and the student and parent/guardian shall be asked to 
indicate in writing their willingness to comply with these regulations. 

 
2. The Superintendent or designee shall transmit to the Board his/her recommendation 

regarding readmission. The Board shall consider this recommendation in closed session. If 
a written request for open session is received from the parent/guardian or adult student, it 
shall be honored to the extent that privacy rights of other students are not violated. 

 
3. If the readmission is granted, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student and 

parent/guardian, by registered mail, of the Board's decision regarding readmission. 
 
4. The Board may deny readmission only if it finds that the student has not satisfied the 

conditions of the rehabilitation plan or that the student continues to pose a danger to campus 
safety or to other district students or employees.  (Education Code 48916) 

 
5. If the Board denies the readmission of a student, the Board shall determine either to 

continue the student's placement in the alternative educational program initially selected or 
to place the student in another program that serves expelled students, including placement 
in a county community school. 

 
6. The Board shall provide written notice to the expelled student and parent/guardian 

describing the reasons for denying readmittance into the regular program. This notice shall 
indicate the Board's determination of the educational program which the Board has chosen. 
The student shall enroll in that program unless the parent/guardian chooses to enroll the 
student in another school district.  (Education Code 48916) 

 
No student shall be denied readmission into the district based solely on the student's arrest, 
adjudication by a juvenile court, formal or informal supervision by a probation officer, detention 
in a juvenile facility, enrollment in a juvenile court school, or other such contact with the juvenile 
justice system.  (Education Code 48645.5) 
 
Maintenance of Records 
 
The district shall maintain a record of each suspension and expulsion, including its specific 
cause(s).  (Education Code 48900.8) 
 
Expulsion records of any student shall be maintained in the student's mandatory interim record and 
sent to any school in which the student subsequently enrolls upon written request by that school.  
(Education Code 48918(k)) 



24 
 
 

Note:  Education Code 48915.1 requires that, when an expelled student asks to enroll in another district, the 
receiving district must hold a hearing to determine whether the student poses a danger to its students or staff.  The 
receiving district then may either deny or permit the enrollment.  Upon request from another district, the expelling 
district must provide information about the expulsion within five days. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall, within five working days, honor any other district's request 
for information about an expulsion from this district.  (Education Code 48915.1) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 9, 2011 
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: June 18,2014 
revised: March 10, 2015 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Instruction  
BP 6145.2 
 
ATHLETIC COMPETITION 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 35179, the Governing Board has control of and responsibility for all aspects of 
district interscholastic athletic policies, programs, and activities. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 51242, the Board may exempt any high school student engaged in a school-sponsored 
interscholastic athletic program after regular school hours from the requirement to attend physical education 
courses; see BP 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that the district's athletic program constitutes an integral 
component of the educational program and helps to build a positive school climate.  The athletic 
program also promotes the physical, social, and emotional well-being and character development 
of participating students. The district's athletic program shall be designed to meet students' interests 
and abilities and shall be varied in scope to attract wide participation. 
(cf. 3541.1 - Transportation for School-Related Trips) 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 
(cf. 7110 - Facilities Master Plan) 
 
All athletic teams shall be supervised by qualified coaches to ensure that student athletes receive 
appropriate instruction and guidance related to safety, health, sports skills, and sportsmanship.  
Athletic events shall be officiated by qualified personnel. 
(cf. 4127/4227/4327 - Temporary Athletic Team Coaches) 
 
The Board encourages business and community support for district athletic programs, subject to 
applicable district policies and regulations governing advertisements and donations. 
(cf. 1260 - Educational Foundation) 
(cf. 1321 - Solicitation of Funds from and by Students) 
(cf. 1325 - Advertising and Promotion) 
(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 
(cf. 3290 - Gifts, Grants and Bequests) 
 
Nondiscrimination and Equivalent Opportunities in the Athletic Program 
 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 35179, the Board is responsible for ensuring that district and interscholastic 
athletic policies, programs, and activities are in compliance with law. Gender equity and nondiscrimination in 
district and interscholastic athletic programs and activities are governed by both federal law (Title IX, 20 USC 1681-
1688) and state law (Education Code 200-262.4; 5 CCR 4900-4965). 
 
In Mansourian v. Regents of University of California, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals ruled that a university 
receiving federal funds can be held liable for failing to effectively accommodate the athletic interests of both men 
and women even if the aggrieved women did not first provide the appropriate university officials with notice of their 
disadvantageous treatment and an opportunity to cure it. See the accompanying administrative regulation for factors 
the district must consider in determining whether equivalent opportunities are being provided. 
 
Education Code 221.2-221.3 (the California Racial Mascot Act) declare the use of racially derogatory or 
discriminatory school or athletic team names, mascots, or nicknames in public schools to be contrary to an equal 



2 
 
education and specifically prohibit public schools from using the term "Redskins" as a school or athletic team name, 
mascot, or nickname. The following paragraph includes an expansion of this prohibition to cover any racially 
derogatory or discriminatory athletic team name, mascot, or nickname and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Also see BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities. 

 
The district's athletic program shall be free from discrimination and discriminatory practices 
prohibited by state and federal law, including, but not limited to, the use of any racially derogatory 
or discriminatory school or athletic team name, mascot, or nickname. The Superintendent or 
designee shall ensure that equivalent athletic opportunities are provided for males and females, 
and that students are permitted to participate in athletic activities consistent with their gender 
identity. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
 
Any complaint regardingalleging discrimination in the district's athletic program shall be filed in 
accordance with the district's uniform complaint procedures. 
(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 
 
California Interscholastic Federation 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12.  Pursuant to Education 
Code 35179, the district may join an association, such as the California Interscholastic Federation (CIF), for the 
purpose of providing regional or statewide interscholastic athletic programs and activities for district students. 
Pursuant to Education Code 33353, CIF is responsible for setting rules governing interscholastic athletic programs. 
Students who attend schools that participate in interscholastic sports are therefore subject to CIF regulations as 
well as applicable district rules. 

 
Any district school that participates in the California Interscholastic Federation (CIF) shall conduct 
its athletic activities in accordance with CIF bylaws and rules and any applicable district policy 
and regulation. The Superintendent or designee shall have responsibility for the district's 
interscholastic athletic program, while the principal or designee at each participating school shall 
be responsible for site-level decisions, as appropriate. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to CIF rules established in accordance with Education Code 33353, the Board is required to 
designate an individual from each school that participates in CIF sports to serve as a representative to the local 
CIF league. The name and contact information of these representatives must be annually reported to CIF. The 
following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The Board shall annually designate a representative to the local CIF league from each school that 
participates in CIF sports. The Superintendent or designee shall recommend a candidate for the 
position who demonstrates an understanding of the district's goals for student learning and 
interscholastic activities, knowledge of the athletic programs, awareness of the implications of 
league decisions for the school and the district, and interpersonal communication and leadership 
skills. 
 
The designated representative(s) shall vote on issues that impact interscholastic athletics at the 
league and section levels, perform any other duties required by the CIF league, and report regularly 
to the Board on league, section, and statewide issues related to athletic programs. 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
 
 



3 
 
Student Eligibility 
 

Note:  The following section provides that student eligibility for participation in athletic programs shall be based 
on the same criteria adopted by the Board for all other extracurricular or cocurricular activities (see BP/AR 6145 
- Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities), and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
Education Code 48850 specifies that a homeless student, or a foster youth whose residence changes pursuant to a 
court order or decision of a child welfare worker, shall be deemed to meet all residency requirements for 
participation in extracurricular activities and interscholastic sports; see AR 6173 - Education for Homeless 
Children and AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth. 
 
In addition, Education Code 49700-49701 establish a uniform means of assisting children of active duty military 
families transferred from one state to another, by reducing or eliminating the barriers to their educational success 
caused by the frequent moves and deployments of their parents/guardians; see BP/AR 6173.2 - Education of 
Children of Military Families.  Among other things, Education Code 49701 requires flexibility of districts' local 
rules to facilitate eligibility for extracurricular activities of children of military personnel. 

 
Eligibility requirements for student participation in the district's interscholastic athletic program, 
including requirements pertaining to academic achievement, shall be the same as those set by the 
district for participation in extracurricular and cocurricular activities. 
(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance) 
(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
(cf. 6173 - Education for Homeless Children) 
(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth) 
(cf. 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that participate in CIF. CIF bylaws specify eligibility 
criteria for participating student athletes, including criteria related to age, grade, attendance, scholastic 
achievement, residence, transfers, and discipline. In addition, in accordance with CIF bylaws, students in home 
schooling or home study/independent study programs are not eligible for CIF interscholastic competition unless 
they are enrolled in a program under the jurisdiction of a CIF member school district (i.e., a program in which the 
district approves the curriculum, administers the program, and evaluates the student). 

 
In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in 
interscholastic athletics governed by CIF satisfy CIF eligibility requirements. 
 

Note:  Education Code 49010-49011 and the California Department of Education's (CDE) Fiscal Management 
Advisory 12-02, Pupil Fees, Deposits, and Other Charges, clarify that districts may not charge a fee for student 
participation in extracurricular activities, regardless of whether the activity is elective. Such prohibited fees 
include, but are not limited to, the cost of uniforms, locks, lockers, and equipment. 
 
However, pursuant to Education Code 32220-32224, the district may charge a fee for required medical and 
accident insurance for athletic team members that is not paid for with school district or student body funds, as long 
as costs for insurance are covered for those determined to be financially unable to pay; see the accompanying 
administrative regulation and AR 5143 - Insurance. The district may also charge a fee for other students to attend 
athletic events as spectators since such attendance is not directly related to the educational program. Districts are 
advised to seek legal counsel before charging a fee for any activity which may be construed as related to the 
educational program. 

 
Students shall not be charged a fee to participate in an athletic program, including, but not limited 
to, a fee to cover the cost of uniforms, locks, lockers, or athletic equipment. 
(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 
(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 



4 
 
 
Sportsmanship 
 

Note:  CIF has adopted a set of principles entitled Pursuing Victory with Honor to provide the tools for teaching 
character development to student athletes. Districts that are not affiliated with CIF may delete or modify the 
following optional section to reflect district practice. 

 
The Board values the quality and integrity of the athletic program and the character development 
of student athletes. Student athletes, coaches, parents/guardians, spectators, and others are 
expected to demonstrate good sportsmanship, ethical conduct, and fair play during all athletic 
competitions. They shall also abide by the core principles of trustworthiness, respect, 
responsibility, fairness, caring, and good citizenship, and the Code of Ethics adopted by CIF. 
 
Students and staff shall be subject to disciplinary action for improper conduct. 
(cf. 3515.2 - Disruptions) 
(cf. 4118 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Health and Safety 
 

Note:  See the accompanying administrative regulation for additional requirements pertaining to the health and 
safety of student athletes, including students who experience concussions or other head injuries, heat illness, or 
sudden cardiac arrest. 

 
The Board desires to give student health and safety the highest consideration in planning and 
conducting athletic activities. 
 

Note:  CIF requires students in grades 9-12 to undergo medical examinations before participating in interscholastic 
competition; see BP 5141.3 - Health Examinations.  Pursuant to Education Code 49458, any examination required 
for participation in an interscholastic athletic program may be conducted by a physician or physician assistant. 

 
Students shall have a medical clearance before participating in interscholastic athletic programs.  
Care shall be taken to ensure that all athletic trainings and competitions are conducted in a manner 
that will not overtax the physical capabilities of the participants. When appropriate, protective 
equipment shall be used to prevent or minimize injuries. 
(cf. 5131.61 - Drug Testing) 
(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 
(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
(cf. 5141.7 - Sun Safety) 
(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 
 
Coaches and appropriate district employees shall take every possible precaution to ensure that 
athletic equipment is kept in safe and serviceable condition.  The Superintendent or designee shall 
ensure that all athletic equipment is cleaned and inspected for safety before the beginning of each 
school year. 
(cf. 5142 - Safety) 



5 
 
 

Note:  Education Code 35179.4, as added by AB 2009 (Ch. 646, Statutes of 2018), requires any district that offers 
an interscholastic athletic program to develop a written emergency action plan, as provided below. A sample 
emergency action plan that may be used in the event of sudden cardiac arrest, catastrophic injury, or other medical 
emergency is available on CIF's web site. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a written emergency action plan that describes the 
location of automated external defibrillator(s) and procedures to be followed in the event of sudden 
cardiac arrest or other medical emergency related to the athletic program's activities or events. The 
plan shall be posted in accordance with guidelines of the National Federation of State High School 
Associations.  (Education Code 35179.4) 
 
In the event of ana serious injury or a perceived imminent risk to a student's health, such as a 
concussion or passing out, fainting, or other sign of sudden cardiac arrest, during or immediately 
after an athletic activity, the coach or any other district employee who is present shall remove the 
student athlete from the activity, observe universal precautions in handling blood or other bodily 
fluid, and/or seek medical treatment for the student as appropriate. 
(cf. 4119.42/4219.42/4319.42 - Exposure Control Plan for Bloodborne Pathogens) 
(cf. 4119.43/4219.43/4319.43 - Universal Precautions) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
(cf. 5141.21 - Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions) 
(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
Whenever ana serious injury or illness is suffered by a student athlete, the Superintendent or 
designee shall notify the student's parent/guardian of the date, time, and extent of any injury or 
illness suffered by the student and any actions taken to treat the student. 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
200-262.4  Prohibition of discrimination 
17578  Cleaning and sterilizing of football equipment 
17580-17581  Football equipment 
32220-32224 Insurance for athletic teams, especially: 
32221.5  Required insurance for athletic activities 
33353-33353.5  California Interscholastic Federation; implementation of policies, insurance program 
33354  California Department of Education authority over interscholastic athletics 
33479-33479.9 The Eric Parades Sudden Cardiac Arrest Prevention Act 
35160.5  District policies; rules and regulations 
35179  Interscholastic athletics 
35179.1 California High School Coaching Education and Training Program 
35179.4  Emergency action plan 
35179.5  Interscholastic athletics; limitation on full-contact practices 
35179.6  Automated external defibrillator, athletic activities 
48850  Interscholastic athletics; students in foster care and homeless students 
48900  Grounds for suspension and expulsion 
48930-48938  Student organizations 
49010-49013 Student fees 
49020-49023  Athletic programs; legislative intent, equal opportunity 
49030-49034  Performance-enhancing substances 
49458  Health examinations, interscholastic athletic program 
49475  Health and safety, concussions and head injuries 
49700-49701  Education of children of military families 
51242  Exemption from physical education for high school students in interscholastic athletic program 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
1797.196  Automated external defibrillator 
PENAL CODE 
245.6  Hazing 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
4900-4965  Nondiscrimination in elementary and secondary education programs, especially: 



6 
 

4920-4922 Nondiscrimination in intramural, interscholastic, and club activities 
5531  Supervision of extracurricular activities of students 
5590-5596  Employment of noncertificated coaches 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1681-1688 Discrimination based on sex or blindness, Title IX 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34 
106.31  Nondiscrimination on the basis of sex in education programs or activities 
106.33  Comparable facilities 
106.41 Nondiscrimination in athletic programs 
COURT DECISIONS 
Mansourian v. Regents of University of California, (2010) 602 F. 3d 957 
McCormick v. School District of Mamaroneck, (2004) 370 F.3d 275 
Kahn v. East Side Union High School District, (2003) 31 Cal. 4th 990 
Hartzell v. Connell, (1984) 35 Cal. 3d 899 

Management Resources: 
CSBA PUBLICATIONS 
Updated Legal Guidance:  Protecting Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Students Against Discrimination, March 2017 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Pupil Fees, Deposits, and Other Charges, Fiscal Management Advisory 12-02, April 24, 2013 
CALIFORNIA INTERSCHOLASTIC FEDERATION PUBLICATIONS 
Athletic Department Emergency Action Plan: Response Teams 
California Interscholastic Federation Constitution and Bylaws 
A Guide to Equity in Athletics 
Guidelines for Gender Identity Participation 
Keep Their Heart in the Game:  A Sudden Cardiac Arrest Information Sheet for Athletes and Parents/Guardians 
Event Emergency Guidelines, 2013 
Pursuing Victory with Honor, 1999 
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION PUBLICATIONS 
Heads Up:  Concussion in High School Sports, Tool Kit, June 2010 
Heads Up:  Concussion in Youth Sports, Tool Kit, July 2007 
Acute Concussion Evaluation (ACE) Care Plan, 2006 
NATIONAL FEDERATION OF STATE HIGH SCHOOL ASSOCIATIONS PUBLICATIONS 
Emergency Action Planning Guide for After-School Practices and Events 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS PUBLICATIONS 
Withdrawal of Dear Colleague Letter on Transgender Students, Dear Colleague Letter, February 22, 2017 
Intercollegiate Athletics Policy Clarification:  The Three-Part Test - Part Three, Dear Colleague Letter, April 20, 2010 
WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
California Interscholastic Federation:  http://www.cifstate.org 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Concussion Resources:  http://www.cdc.gov/concussion 
National Federation of State High School Associations:  http://www.nfhs.org 
National Operating Committee on Standards for Athletic Equipment:  http://www.nocsae.org 
U.S. Anti-Doping Agency:  http://www.usada.org 
U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights:  http://www2.ed.gov/ocr 

 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION  
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007   
revised: February 14, 2012 
revised: July 11, 2017 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Instruction  
AR 6145.2 
 
ATHLETIC COMPETITION 
 
Nondiscrimination and Equivalent Opportunities in the Athletic Program 
 

Note:  The following section reflects pertinent provisions of state and federal law regarding nondiscrimination 
(Education Code 200-262.4; 5 CCR 4900-4965; Title IX, 20 USC 1681-1688). The Office for Civil Rights (OCR) 
in the U.S. Department of Education oversees complaints regarding violations of Title IX. 

 
No student shall be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, be denied equivalent 
opportunity in, or otherwise be discriminated against in interscholastic, intramural, or club athletics 
on the basis of any actual or perceived sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender 
expression, ethnic group identification, race, ancestry, national origin, religion, color, mental or 
physical disability, or any other basischaracteristic specified in law and BP 0410 - 
Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities.  (Education Code 220, 221.5, 230; 5 CCR 
4920; 34 CFR 106.41) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
 

Note:  5 CCR 4921 and 34 CFR 106.41 authorize the establishment of separate teams for males and females where 
the selection of teams is based on competitive skills.  34 CFR 106.41 also authorizes single-sex teams for contact 
sports, as defined. Because state regulations do not address single-sex teams for contact sports, districts should 
consult legal counsel prior to establishing any such single-sex team for a contact sport for which selection is not 
based on competitive skills. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may provide single-sex teams when selection for the teams is 
based on competitive skills.  (5 CCR 4921; 34 CFR 106.41) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 221.5, a district is required to permit a transgender student to participate in sex-
segregated school programs and activities, including athletic teams and competitions, consistent with his/her 
gender identity, regardless of the gender listed in the student's records; see BP/AR 5145.3 - 
Nondiscrimination/Harassment. The California Interscholastic Federation's (CIF) bylaws and Guidelines for 
Gender Identity Participation contain procedures for addressing student complaints regarding gender identity-
based participation in interscholastic sports. Also see CSBA's Updated Legal Guidance: Protecting Transgender 
and Gender Nonconforming Students Against Discrimination. 

 
Each student shall be allowed to participate in any single-sex athletic program or activity consistent 
with his/her gender identity and for which he/she is otherwise eligible to participate, irrespective 
of the gender listed on the student's records.  (Education Code 221.5) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
When a school provides only one team in a particular sport for members of one sex, but provides 
no team in the same sport for members of the other sex, and athletic opportunities in the total 
program for that sex have been previously limited, members of the excluded sex shall be allowed 
to try out and compete with the team.  The same standards for eligibility shall be applied to every 
student trying out for the team, regardless of sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, 
gender expression, or other protected group status.  (5 CCR 4921; 34 CFR 106.41) 



2 
 
 

Note:  5 CCR 4922 and 34 CFR 106.41, as reflected in items #1-11 below, list factors that districts must consider 
when determining whether equivalent opportunities are being provided. CIF's A Guide to Equity in Athletics 
suggests actions that districts can take for each of the factors to help the district meet its equivalence goals. Any 
district with questions about equivalent athletic opportunities for its students should consult legal counsel. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that equivalent opportunities are available to both 
sexes in athletic programs by considering, among other factors:  (5 CCR 4922; 34 CFR 106.41) 
 
1. Whether the offered selection of sports and levels of competition effectively accommodate 

the interests and abilities of both sexes 
 

Note:  Education Code 230 provides the following three-part test to determine if a district has effectively 
accommodated the interests and abilities of both sexes in athletics.  This test is the same three-part test that is used 
by OCR for helping to determine equivalent opportunities under Title IX. 

 
The athletic program may be found to effectively accommodate the interests and abilities 
of both sexes using any one of the following tests:  (Education Code 230) 

 
Note:  CIF's A Guide to Equity in Athletics advises that, in order to meet the criterion specified in item #1a below, 
the ratio of male/female athletes should be within five percent of the ratio of male/female district enrollment. 

 
a. Whether the interscholastic-level participation opportunities for male and female 

students are provided in numbers substantially proportionate to their respective 
enrollments 

 
b. Where the members of one sex have been and are underrepresented among 

interscholastic athletes, whether the district can show a history and a continuing 
practice of program expansion that is demonstrably responsive to the developing 
interests and abilities of the members of that sex 

 
Note:  In evaluating whether there is an unmet interest in a particular sport and sufficient ability to sustain a team 
in the sport (item #1c below), OCR considers (1) whether an institution uses nondiscriminatory methods of 
assessment when determining the athletic interests and abilities of its students, (2) whether a viable team for the 
underrepresented sex was recently eliminated, (3) multiple indicators of interest, (4) multiple indicators of ability, 
and (5) frequency of conducting assessments. A student survey is one indicator that may be used. A letter issued 
by OCR in April 2010 provides information that the district might consider in developing its own survey.  In 
addition, CIF's A Guide to Equity in Athletics provides sample surveys. 

 
c. Where the members of one sex are underrepresented among interscholastic athletes 

and the district cannot show a history and continuing practice of program expansion 
as required in item #1b above, whether the district can demonstrate that the interests 
and abilities of the members of that sex have been fully and effectively 
accommodated by the present program 

 
2. The provision and maintenance of equipment and supplies 
 
3. Scheduling of games and practice times, selection of the season for a sport, and location of 

the games and practices 
 
4. Travel and per diem allowances 
 
5. Opportunities to receive coaching and academic tutoring 



3 
 
 
6. Assignment and compensation of coaches and tutors 
 
7. Provision of locker rooms, practice facilities, and competitive facilities 
 
8. Provision of medical and training facilities and services 
 
9. Provision of housing and dining facilities and services 
 
10. Publicity 
 

Note:  5 CCR 4922 clarifies that unequal aggregate expenditures for members of each sex or unequal expenditures 
for male and female teams shall not by itself constitute a failure to provide equivalent opportunities. However, the 
provision of necessary funding for teams of both sexes is a factor in the determination, as specified below. 

 
11. Provision of necessary funds 
 
Each school that offers competitive athletics shall, at the end of the school year, post on its school 
web site, or on the district web site if the school does not have a web site, the following 
information:  (Education Code 221.9) 
 
1. The total enrollment of the school, classified by gender 
 
2. The number of students enrolled at the school who participate in competitive athletics, 

classified by gender 
 
3. The number of boys' and girls' teams, classified by sport and by competition level 

(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites) 
 
The data reported for items #1-3 above shall reflect the total number of players on a team roster 
on the official first day of competition. The materials used to compile this information shall be 
retained by the school for at least three years after the information is posted on the web site.  
(Education Code 221.9) 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
Concussions and Head Injuries 
 

Note:  Education Code 49475 requires districts to distribute information on concussions and head injuries to 
student athletes and their parents/guardians. The district may use fact sheets developed by the Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention (CDC), available on CIF's web site, or other resources to develop the information sheet. 
The requirements of Education Code 49475 apply to any district that offers an athletic program at any grade level 
and for any sport. These requirements do not apply to students engaging in an athletic activity during the regular 
school day or as part of a physical education course. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually distribute to student athletes and their 
parents/guardians an information sheet on concussions and head injuries. The student and 
parent/guardian shall sign and return the information sheet before the student's initiatingstudent 
initiates practice or competition.  (Education Code 49475) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 

Note:  Education Code 49032 requires that each high school coach complete an education program that includes, 
but is not limited to, a basic understanding of the signs and symptoms of concussions and appropriate response to 



4 
 

them. CIF makes free online courses available through its web site. Also see AR 4127/4227/4327 - Temporary 
Athletic Team Coaches. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to coaches and/or athletic trainers regarding 
concussion symptoms, prevention, and appropriate response.  (Education Code 35179.1, 49032) 
(cf. 4127/4227/4327 - Temporary Athletic Team Coaches) 
 

Note:  Education Code 49475 requires that a student at any grade level engaged in an athletic program apart from 
the regular school day or physical education course who is suspected of sustaining a concussion be immediately 
removed from the athletic activity and not be allowed to return until a health care provider provides written 
clearance. CDC's web site includes an Acute Concussion Evaluation form which may be used to provide injured 
students and their parents/guardians with information about monitoring symptoms and the health care provider's 
recommendations regarding returning to daily activities, school, and sports. See CIF's web site for additional 
information regarding concussions. 

 
If a student athlete is suspected of sustaining a concussion or head injury in an athletic activity, 
he/she shall be immediately removed from the activity for the remainder of the day. The student 
shall not be permitted to return to the activity until he/she is evaluated by a licensed health care 
provider trained in the management of concussions and receives the health care provider's written 
clearance to return to the activity.  If the health care provider determines that the athlete sustained 
a concussion or a head injury, the athlete shall also complete a graduated return-to-play protocol 
of no less than seven days in duration under the supervision of a licensed health care provider.  
(Education Code 49475) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that offer a football program and may be revised to reflect 
the grade levels offered by the district. 

 
A middle school or high school football team shall not hold a full-contact practice during the off-
season and shall not conduct more than two full-contact practices per week during the preseason 
and regular season (from 30 days before the commencement of the regular season until the 
completion of the final interscholastic football game of that season). In addition, the full-contact 
portion of a practice shall not exceed 90 minutes in any single day. For these purposes, full-contact 
practice means a practice where drills or live action is conducted that involves collisions at game 
speed, where players execute tackles and other activity that is typical of an actual tackle football 
game.  (Education Code 35179.5) 
 
Heat Illness 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 35179.1, as amended by AB 2800 (Ch. 21, Statutes of 2018), effective January 
1, 2019, the district or CIF-developed coaching education program required by Education Code 49032 must 
include training on the signs and symptoms of, and the appropriate response to, heat illness. The National 
Federation of State High Schools offers a free online course, available on CIF's web site, that fulfills these 
requirements. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to coaches and/or athletic trainers regarding 
the signs and symptoms of, and the appropriate response to, heat illness, including heat cramps, 
heat syncope, heat exhaustion, and exertional heat stroke.  (Education Code 35179.1, 49032) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects recommendations in CSBA's and CIF's joint publication 
Preventing Catastrophic Heat Illness, and may be expanded to include additional district strategies. 

 
To assist in the prevention of heat illness, coaches and/or athletic trainers shall gradually increase 



5 
 
the intensity and duration of exercise to acclimate student athletes to practice in the heat, provide 
adequate rest breaks, make water available during all athletic activities, and alter practice plans in 
extreme environmental conditions. 
 
Sudden Cardiac Arrest 
 

Note:  Education Code 33479.3 requires that student athletes and their parents/guardians receive information on 
the nature and warning signs of sudden cardiac arrest, as provided below. This information is available from CIF 
or, if the athletic activity is not governed by CIF, on the California Department of Education's (CDE) web site. In 
addition, Education Code 33479.2 encourages districts to post on their web sites the information provided on 
CDE's web site pertaining to sudden cardiac arrest. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall distribute the California Interscholastic Federation (CIF) 
information sheet on sudden cardiac arrest to all student athletes who will be participating in a 
CIF-governed athletic activity and to their parents/guardians. The student and parent/guardian 
shall sign and return the information sheet prior to the student's participation in the athletic activity. 
If an athletic activity is not covered by the CIF, the student and his/her parent/guardian shall, prior 
to participatingthe student's participation in the athletic activity, sign and return an 
acknowledgement that they have received and reviewed the sudden cardiac arrest information 
posted on the California Department of Education's web site.  (Education Code 33479.2, 33479.3) 
 

Note:  Education Code 33479.6 requires the coach of an athletic activity to complete, every two years, a training 
course related to the nature and warning signs of sudden cardiac arrest. See AR 4127/4227/4327 - Temporary 
Athletic Team Coaches. CIF makes free online courses available through its web site. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to coaches and/or athletic trainers regarding 
the nature and warning signs of sudden cardiac arrest.  (Education Code 33479.6, 33479.7, 
35179.1, 49032) 
 

Note:  Education Code 33479.5 and CIF bylaws provide for a student's removal from participation in an athletic 
activity if he/she passes out or faints. As defined by Education Code 33479.1, an "athletic activity" includes (1) 
interscholastic athletics; (2) an athletic contest or competition sponsored by a school, including cheerleading and 
club-sponsored sports activities; (3) noncompetitive cheerleading sponsored by a school; and (4) practices, 
interscholastic practices, and scrimmages for all these activities. Pursuant to Education Code 33479.5, this 
requirement does not apply when a student engages in an athletic activity during the regular school day or as part 
of a physical education course, unless the activity constitutes a practice, interscholastic practice, or scrimmage. 
Furthermore, Education Code 33479.5 authorizes, but does not require, the removal of a student from an athletic 
activity if he/she exhibits symptoms of sudden cardiac arrest other than passing out or fainting, as provided below. 
However, to promote student safety, the district may choose to require its staff to remove a student from an athletic 
activity if he/she exhibits any symptom of sudden cardiac arrest at any time. 

 
If a student athlete passes out or faints, or is known to have passed out or fainted, while 
participating in or immediately following his/her participation in an athletic activity, the student 
shall be removed from participation at that time. If a student exhibits any other symptoms of 
sudden cardiac arrest, including seizures during exercise, unexplained shortness of breath, chest 
pains, dizziness, racing heart rate, or extreme fatigue, he/she may be removed from participation 
by a coach or other employee who observes these symptoms. If any such symptoms are observed, 
notification shall be given to the student's parent/guardian so that the parent/guardian can 
determine the treatment, if any, the student should seek. A student who has been removed from 
participation shall not be permitted to return until he/she is evaluated and given written clearance 
to return to participation by a health care provider.  (Education Code 33479.2, 33479.5) 
 



6 
 
Automated External Defibrillators 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 35179.6, as added by AB 2009 (Ch. 646, Statutes of 2018), effective July 1, 
2019, a district that offers an interscholastic athletic program is required to make an automated external 
defibrillator (AED) available to coaches, athletic trainers, and/or other authorized persons at athletic activities or 
events. Education Code 35179.6 encourages districts to make AEDs available for emergency care or treatment 
within three to five minutes of sudden cardiac arrest to any person in attendance at an on-campus athletic activity 
or event. 
Education Code 35179.6 clarifies that the district or district employee will not be liable for civil damages resulting 
from any act or omission in the rendering of emergency care or treatment provided that the employee complies 
with the requirements of Health and Safety Code 1797.196 and does not act with gross negligence or willful or 
wanton misconduct by using, attempting to use, or maliciously failing to use an AED to render emergency care or 
treatment. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall acquire at least one automated external defibrillator (AED) 
for each district school and shall make the AED(s) available to coaches, athletic trainers, and/or 
other authorized persons at athletic activities or events for the purpose of providing emergency 
care or treatment to students, spectators, and other individuals in attendance at athletic activities 
and events.  (Education Code 35179.6) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
 
The district shall comply with all requirements of Health and Safety Code 1797.196 pertaining to 
any AED acquired by the district, including, but not limited to, regular maintenance and testing of 
the AED and the provision and posting of information regarding the proper use of the AED.  
(Education Code 35179.6; Health and Safety Code 1797.196) 
 
Additional Parental Notifications 
 

Note:  The following optional section lists notices that the district may send to parents/guardians of students 
participating in interscholastic athletics.  This section should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Before a student participates in interscholastic athletic activities, the Superintendent or designee 
shall, in addition to providing his/her parents/guardians with information on the signs and 
symptoms of concussions and sudden cardiac arrest as described above, send a notice to the 
student's parents/guardians which: 
 

Note:  Education Code 33353 requires CIF to provide information to students and parents/guardians about 
procedures for discrimination complaints arising from interscholastic athletic activities. Education Code 33354 
allows a complainant to file a discrimination complaint directly with CDE. 

 
1. Contains information about the procedures for filing a discrimination complaint that arises 

out of an interscholastic athletic activity, including the name of the district's Title IX 
Coordinator 
(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 

 
Note:  Education Code 221.61 requires districts to post specified information on their web sites related to Title IX. 
A district that does not maintain a web site may comply by posting the information on the web site of its county 
office of education. A comprehensive list of rights based on the provisions of the federal regulations implementing 
Title IX can be found in Education Code 221.8. See AR 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment. Optional item 
#2 below provides that this information will also be provided in writing to the parents/guardians of student athletes. 

 
2. Includes a copy of students' Title IX rights pursuant to Education Code 221.8 
 



7 
 

Note:  In Kahn v. East Side Union High School District, the California Supreme Court analyzed the liability of a 
coach for an injury to a member of a high school diving team. The court acknowledged that some risk of injury is 
inherent in sports and part of a coach's job is to "push" a student athlete to advance his/her skill level and to 
undertake more difficult tasks. According to the court, a coach could be found liable only when he/she intentionally 
injures the student or engages in conduct that is so reckless that it is outside of the ordinary activity involved in 
teaching or coaching the sport. 
The district may or may not wish to seek a waiver of liability for accidents or injuries resulting from participation 
in athletic activities. Whether a liability waiver is legally effective is likely to be determined on a case-by-case 
basis, and it is questionable whether a student's right to participate in extracurricular activities could be made 
contingent upon the submission of a waiver. Legal counsel should be consulted when addressing the complex 
issues related to liability waivers. 

 
3. Explains that there is an element of risk associated with all athletic competitions and that 

the district cannot guarantee that students will not be injured, despite a commitment to 
every participant's health and welfare 
(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance) 

 
Note:  Education Code 32221.5 requires the district to provide information about insurance protection to each 
student participating on a school athletic team. For specific language that must be contained in this statement, see 
AR 5143 - Insurance. 

 
4. Provides information about insurance protection pursuant to Education Code 32221.5 

(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 
 
5. Requests parental permission for the student to participate in the program and, if 

appropriate, be transported by the district to and from competitions 
(cf. 3541.1 - Transportation for School-Related Trips) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900, a student may be subject to suspension or expulsion if he/she engages, 
or attempts to engage, in hazing. 

 
6. States the district's expectation that students adhere strictly to all safety rules, regulations, 

and instructions, as well as rules and guidelines related to conduct and sportsmanship 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

 
7. Includes a copy of the local California Interscholastic Federation (CIF)CIF league rules 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 49033 and CIF bylaws, any student participating in athletics and his/her 
parent/guardian must sign a statement that the student will not use androgenic/anabolic steroids, unless he/she has 
a written prescription from a licensed health care practitioner, or dietary supplements banned by the U.S. Anti-
Doping Agency as well as the substance synephrine. See BP/AR 5131.63 - Steroids. 

 
8. Includes information about the CIF bylaw and district policy requiring any student athlete 

and his/her parent/guardian to sign a statement that the student will not use steroids, unless 
prescribed by a licensed health care practitioner, or prohibited dietary supplements that 
include substances banned by the U.S. Anti-Doping Agency 
(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 

 
 
 
 
 



8 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION  
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: March 13, 2012 
revised: April 14, 2015 
revised: July 11, 2017 
revised: November 13, 2018 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Bylaw 
Board Bylaws  
BB 9110 
 
TERMS OF OFFICE 
 

Note:  Governing boards consist of three, five, or seven members as provided in Education Code 5018 and 35012. 
The district should fill in the blank in the following paragraph to reflect the number of Governing Board members 
in the district. 
For information about the election of Board members, including election dates, see BB 9220 - Governing Board 
Elections. 

 
The Governing Board shall consist of five members whose terms shall be staggered so that as 
nearly as practicable, one half of the members shall be elected in each odd-numbered year.year in 
which the Board's elections are regularly held.  (Education Code 35012) 
 
The term of office for members elected in regular elections shall be four years, commencing on 
the first Friday in December next succeeding their election.  (Education Code 5017) 
 
Board member terms expire four years after their initial election on the first Friday in December 
following the election of new members.  (Education Code 5000) 
 
A member whose term has expired shall continue to discharge the duties of the office until his/her 
successor has qualified by taking the oath of office.  (Government Code 1302, 1360; Education 
Code 5017) 
(cf. 9220 - Governing Board Elections) 
 

Note:  AB 2449 (Ch. 146, Statutes of 2018) amended Education Code 5017 to change the commencement of the 
term of office of board members from the first Friday in December following their election to the second Friday 
in December. Although Education Code 5000 still states that a board member's four-year term expires on the first 
Friday in December, Education Code 5017 requires board members to continue to discharge their duties until their 
successor has qualified by taking the oath of office. Therefore, the following paragraph reflects the date specified 
in Education Code 5017. 

 
The term of office for Board members elected in regular elections shall be four years, commencing 
on the second Friday in December following their election.  (Education Code 5017) 
(cf. 9223 - Filling Vacancies) 
(cf. 9224 - Oath or Affirmation) 
(cf. 9250 - Remuneration, Reimbursement, and Other Benefits) 
 
Board members whose terms have expired shall continue to discharge the duties of office until 
their successors have qualified by taking the oath of office.  (Education Code 5017; Government 
Code 1302, 1360) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Elections Code 10404.5, whenever a regularly scheduled board election is changed due to 
consolidation of elections, the term of office of incumbent Board members is extended to align with the next 
applicable election. Pursuant to Elections Code 1302 and 10404.5, districts are authorized to request consolidation 



2 
 

of their board elections with the local municipal or state primary or general elections, and under defined 
circumstances are required to consolidate their elections with statewide elections as specified in Elections Code 
14051-14052. See BB 9220 - Governing Board Elections. 

 
If a regularly scheduled Board election date is changed due to consolidation with a statewide or 
municipal general election, the term of incumbent Board members shall be extended to align with 
the next applicable election.  (Elections Code 10404.5) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
5000-5033  Election of school district board members 
35010  Control of district 
35012  Board members; number, election and terms 
35107  Eligibility 
ELECTIONS CODE 
1302  Local elections, school district election 
10400-10418  Consolidation of elections 
14050-14057  California Voter Participation Rights Act 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
1302  Continuance in office until qualification of successor 
1303  Exercising functions of office without having qualified 
1360  Necessity of taking constitutional oath 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Bylaw adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: December 9, 2008 
revised: November 13, 2018 


	01_11-13-2018_SCOE_Agenda
	02_Secure Rural Schools Oct-Nov Action
	03_SCOE OCT 2018 OBJ SUMM
	Account Object Summary-Balance
	1
	1
	01
	
	
	
	5
	1000
	2000
	3000
	4000
	5000
	6000
	7000





	16
	
	
	
	5
	7000









	04_SCOE_CDE approval of emergency days_10-10-2018
	05_10-09-2018_SCOE_Minutes
	10-09-2018_SCOE_Minutes.pdf
	10-09-2018_SCOE_Closed Session.pdf
	10-09-2018_SCOE_Minutes_handout.pdf

	06_SCOE OCT 2018 CHECKS
	Board Report
	1
	00015031
	00015032
	00015033
	00015034
	00015035
	00015036
	00015037
	00015038
	00015039
	00015040
	00015041
	00015042
	00015043
	00015044
	00015045
	00015046
	00015047
	00015048
	00015049
	00015050
	00015051
	00015052
	00015053
	00015054
	00015055
	00015056
	00015057
	00015058
	00015059
	00015060
	00015061
	00015062
	00015063
	00015064
	00015065
	00015066
	00015067
	00015068
	00015069
	00015070
	00015071
	00015072

	2
	01
	76



	07_Roberts_Retirement Letter_11-1-2018
	08_SCOESPJUSD - Adult Education Plan
	09_11-18 Guide Sheet--BOARD PACKET
	November 13, 2018

	10_Policies for 11-13-2018
	1100_BP_Communication with the Public_RED.pdf
	3290_BP_Gifts, Grants and Bequests_RED.pdf
	3320_BP_Claims and Actions Against the District_RED_per JPA feedback 10-18-18.pdf
	3320~AR_Claims and Actions Against the District_RED_per JPA feedback 10-18-18.pdf
	3460~AR_Financial Reports and Accountability_RED.pdf
	4114_BP_Transfers_RED.pdf
	5141.6_BP_School Health Services_RED.pdf
	5141.6~AR_School Health Services_NEW.pdf
	5144.1_BP_Suspension and Expulsion-Due Process_RED.pdf
	5144.1~AR_Suspension and Expulsion-Due Process_RED.pdf
	6145.2_BP_Athletic Competition_RED.pdf
	6145.2~AR_Athletic Competition_RED.pdf
	9110_BB_Terms of Office_RED.pdf


